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(IHET:'EOPLE ()F ·t1-ms1'.ATE OF Ci\LTFOR.c"IIA, CT No, CD280.827 

PI~intif~ DA No. AEL959 
v. 

COMPLAINT-FE:CONY 
!S(,:I-ILOivro.scH!vIT)BL, 

drb 0'9I13/6S;· 

Defendant 

Date: 

J?C296 DNATESTSTATUS SUMI\1ARY 

Defendant DNA Testing Requitemerits 

SCHMUEL,·SCHLOMO DNA sample· ti,q_11ired i,pun conviction 

Ci.:t.ARGE.SUMMARY 

Count Charge Issue Type Sentence Range SpeciaLAllegations .Allegatioii Effect 

1 PC550(b)(3) Fdoi,y 2-⇒ -s 

SCHMUEL, SCHLOMO 

2 PC550(b)(3) Felony 2-3-5 

SCH.tvflJEL, SCHLQMO 

3 PC:550(b)(3) Fe.lony 

SCHMUEL,.SCHLOli[O 

4 PCSS0(b)(3) Fclohy 

SC:HMOEL, S<:;:I-tL01'JO 

5 PC550(b)(3) Felony 2-3-$.. 
SCHMUEL, SCI·fLO1'1O 

6 PC550(b)(,3) Felonr 2-3--5. 
SCHMUEL, SCHLO'MO 

7 PC550(b)(3} . Felony 

SCHMllEL, SCHLOMO 
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CHARGE SUMMARY (con.t'd) 

Count. Charge Issue Type- Sentence Range Special AJ!egatio1is_ AJ.legatio1i Effect 

8 l'C550(b}(3) Felony 2-3-5 
SCHMUEL, SCHLOl'vfO 

9 PC550(b)(3) FGlony 2-3-~. 
SCHl\fUEL, SCHLOMO 

JO l'C550(b)(3) Fclony 2-3-5. 

SCHYIUEL, SCHLOMO 

t1 PC5,50(b)(3) Felony 2-3-$ 

SCHMUEL, SCHLOMO 

12 PC550(b)(3) Felony 2-3-5 

SCHMUEL, SCHLOMO 

13 PC550(b)(3) F,ifony ~-3-5 

SC[-IMJJEL, SCHLOMO 

i4 PC550(b)(3) Felony 2°3-5 

SCE·l?vlUl_1L, SCHI.:OMO 

PG1054,3 !1'/fOID!Lt:\LREQUESTFQR DISCOVERY 

The Lmdersigoed, cenifylngu,\011 .irifottnation.and bdieJ, complains that L;nhe County o.t San. Pkgo, St~rn of Cali(ornfa, 
rhe Defendant(s) did ~omtnir the following ctlrne(s): · · 

CHARGES 

COUNT 1 - INSURANCE - CONCEAL EVEN'X' AFFECTING CI.AIM 

On ot aboutand,.ber.ween]une·1, 201.5 attdJw1eJ0, 201$, SCHLQMO SC::Hl',fUEL, tlid unlaw'f\llly:co!lceal and 
knowingly- fail to disclo;ie. the occurrence of, .attd knowinglr. assist and cottspite·with a,iothetpetson to. con.c·eaf ai1d 
kn<:>,vingly fail t(i .dis.close the occuri:eI)ce of, M event-that affected a person's il)idfl). and continue;(:! right and 
en-cide.m~nt" to an .insu.r_arict! benefit and-pay_n1cnt1· ai-id ..i:he iun.O"unt of a,.beiiefit and payment to \vh.idi the person was· 
entitled, i.CJ violation µf PEN,AL C(ibJ-1 SECTlPN 550(9)(3) (Celene A:) . 

Pa.ge 2 of 6_, CourtCase No. CD280B27 



CI-iARGES (cont'd-) 

COUNT 2 - INSURANCE: - CONCEAL EVENT AFFEC'TING CLATM 

On m about June 15, 2015, SCHLOMO Sci-!~fUEL, did u11lawfully conceal and l~owingly fail to disclose the. 
6ccu_t.renct! b~ ind kr:owingly assis'.t and co~1spin; with- ~-119t\u~r p.e.rs~n tp cqqceal_ nr)d l~n.owingly_ fail to di~d9s~ th~ 
occurrerlce of, an event that affecte,t a petson's initial and continued• right and .en:tfr]emeilt to.ari. insurance benefit and . 
.payment, and· i:he amount ofa be,,eITt .and par,nent to which the person was entitled, in..viofatipn of PENAL CO.DE. 
SECTION. 550(b)(3) (Ju.ar1 C) 

COUN'J.' 3 -INSURANCE• CONCEAL.EYEN'f AFFEC'l'ING C.LAHi1 

On or .abou.t Jurte 16,2015, SCB:.LOMO SCJ-1:',{UEt.,, did- unlawfully conceal and knowingly .fail to discl,)se tl1e 
o.ccui:re:ic(! ol and kri.owingly ,rssist and c9uspi,e witli nn,ptheJ' per.son to ,conceal_a.nd ltnowmgly fail to di~dose..the 
occuttente of, rtn event ·that iffected upetso.ti's initiahnd continued' tlght and entitlenrent to an instwince lienefit and 
payment, a,1dthe .. amour1t ofa b,nefa 811(1 pµyinent f:o which tlre per.sqn was erititled,.in violation ofl'EN,AL CODE 
SECTION550(b)(3) (Raquel N.) 

COUNT 4 -INSURANCE - CONCEAL EVENT AFFECTING CLAIM 

On or about ]\me 16, .2ill5, SCHLO);.[O SCHMUEL, did unlawfully c·onceal ar1d knowingly fail to d:isclos°e.the 
o,currence of, and kr1owingly assist and conspire witli a11.other person. to conceal and know.ingly ,foil to. disclose the 
otcurrence of> ·iln cv'c:ri:t that ~ffoCtl?:d a. pe.r:son1s initial and -continued tight and en•titlerhe.nt tO -art in:S:nranCe benefit-and 
payment, and rhe amounr: cif a benefita11d p~yme11t to which the-person wa~.entitled, in ,'iolation ofi,ENAL. CODE 
SECTION 550(b)(3) (RosaM.M.) . 

COUNT 5 ~INSURANCE• CONCEAL EVENT AIJFECTING CLAIM 

On. or nbout a11d becween June l, 2015 and June .30, 2015, SCHLOMO SCHMUE.L, :did unlawfolly conceal.and 
'.lmo,vingly f(lil to disdose the ocq1rrence of, ar_1cLtrnowillgly as,fat ~!1d conspir:e_ with_ a11otl1er petson tu co11ccal and. 
knowbgly fiiil to disclose the occurrence of, au eventthat affected a persoh'sinicial and tontfriued l:ight ili1d 
·m_ticl.em.eut to an.insurance.beaefit ancl paym_ent, and the amount of a benefit a11d pay.m.erit to which t:he·person was 
eniitied,ill violation of PENAL CODE SECTION 55.0(b)(3) (Esteban .C.) 

COUNT G - INSURANCE - CONCEAL EVENT A.F.FECTING CLAJM 

On or about June 16, 20'15, SCHLOMO SCHMUEL, t!id i:mlawft,liy.conceal and knowingly fail to disclose the 
·occt!tte11ce qi', and knowingly assist and--crn1spire with anod\ej, person \o mnceaI a_nd knowh,gly fail to disclose the.. 
ocoiu:rence of, an e\fent tli:1t affected a penron's ini1ial and .cbuti.r.ue:d-rightand•.entitlement to an insurance bcrrefit :ind 
payr:1.ent, and the amount,ofa benefit ai,d payment to ,vhich the pe::so·n was entitled, u1 violation ofPENAL CODE 
SECTION 5500.:.)(3) (Bernardo M.) 
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CHARGES. (cont'd) 

COUNT 7 -INSURANCE -.CONCEAL EVENT AFFECT'1NG C}~AJivf 

On or 2.bout and between Ju!te 01, ;?,015 an.dJuneJO, 2015, SCflLOMO SCHMUEt, did un)awI:ill-)' \:Oncenl.md 
lmoWinghr fail. to :iisck)se the occuite•ace 'Q~ :ind_.k1lowitigly ·assist and conspire wirh anothe'i: pehkii1 to •.to.n-c·eal and 
knowingly Jail to disclose the occl>.trence of; an ever\t thst affectec\ a. persori's initial and contiJmed right and 
entitle1~1.e_nt ·to·.an irisu!'.ance. bei1~fit arid pay.1nc!nt, a1id ~e a1noun·t of.a.benefit and pityrnent·to'which tbe:pets·on vias 
.entitled,in viol01tio.n ofPENALCOl,)B SEC::CION SSO(b)(3) (DavidM.) 

COUNT 8 - INSURANCE - CONCEAL '.EVENT AFFECTING CLAIM 

On or abou1: and between Jt,ne 1, 2015 imdJu:1eJO, 2015, SCHLO?YIO SCHryillEL, did unhnvfcilly conce~l ai:d 
knowingly fail to disdos.eJhe occt:rrente of, and.'knowingly assist nnd conspire with ·anofaet persoti fo ccince:\l arid 
knowingly Jail to clisdose"the occ,,rrence of, ·an eventthat.affected a person'dnfrial:and conti'nued .right and .. 
en.titleme;nt to an insurance benefit ·a.nd paym.enr, and tht amount of :i be1ie£it,u1d pay1ilenno. whid( the person was 
entitled, inviolation of PENAL CODE SECTION 550(b)(3) (Cdstob.al Q.M.) 

COUNT 9 - INSURANCE. CONCEAL.EVENT AFFECTING C,tAIM 

On ori\bourJune 16, 2015, SCHLOr,iO SCHtvfUEL, did. unlawfully conceahnd knowingly fail to disclose the 
occurrenc.e of, andJcnowingly a,sis.t and copspii:e witl1 1\_llOther pers911 to conceal atid knowingly fail to disclose the 
occul:rence of,.ari evenfthat affoctcd• a petsO~s initial and conti1111ed.cightand en;:itlement to-an insu.r:ance benefit and 
payment, Rnd the .,1rno~mt of a beneI:it.a~1d payment to ,vhich the _persor1 w-as entitled, in vi6fatiori of Pfu"IAL CODE 
.SECTION 550(b)(3) (Marisol G.M.) 

COUNT 10 • INStJRANCi:<:- CONCEAL EVENT AF:FECTlNG CLL\.IM 

On or about and ·betweenJune: 1, 2015 and )u11eJO, 2015, SCI-IL.OMO S,CHMlJEt,, did unlawfully c.onceal and 
knowingly fail to cli,c:Iose .the occuirencp of, and kno1v.ingl:y' •.issist and conspire \vith another petson to coucenland 
knowii1gl:(fail to disclose the occmrcnce ot, an event:that:affec.ted a per.son's·initfal an;:! cqntinue,lr.igli.t and 
entiilem_ent to an insurance benefit ,µ,d.paymeri;, ~ncl cl1e ai:nount of a berieEt and pay111ei1t to which tJ,c pet'si:ln was 
entitled, nfvlolatim10fPENAL CODE SECTION 550(!:>)(3) (Silvia G.) 

COUNT 11-INSURANCE- CONCEAL EVENT AFFECTING CLAIM 

On ot abiintand between Ju11e l, 2015 and June 3(); 2015, sc';HLOMO SCHMUEL,. did unlawfally conc~.al. and 
knQwinglyfi1il to disc.lose U_1~ oc~urreiice o(imd kriowingly assist aild conspire ,vith ailothei: person lo cohcc:il and 
ktiowingly fail.to discl,:,,se lhe occurrence of, an event that all'ected a:pei:soo's initial and mo.tinned·right ar,d 
e1:1citletnenc tQ. an insmance benefit .and tiayment,. ,d1d the airibunt of a benefitai,d paymet1t w wli:ich the person was 
entitled, in violatio:ir of PEN1\L CODESECTION 550Q.,)(3) (Jl,farcefaJ.) 
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CHARGES (cont'd) 

COUNT 12 "INSURANCE - CONCEAL EVENT AFFECTING CLAIM 

On or about JuM 16, 2015, SCHLOMO SCHMUEL; did. unlawtully cbru:eal and knowirigly fail to clisdose the. 
occurrence of, ,u\d knowingly assis.t an.cl conspire ivith ·a11other pc:rs◊n ro coni:eil and knowingly fail to disclose the 
occunerice of; an event tha(affected a person's initfahind continued right aml entitlement to an insura11ce benefit and 
payment, and theamoum ofa bene5t and payment to ,vhich the .Persoi1 was entitled, in violation 6f PEN:AL CODE 
SECTION 5S0(b)(3) (Eb~ O.D.C.) 

COUNT J.3 - INSURANCE- CC)NCEAL EVENTAFFEC't'ING CLAIM 

On or ahoutJune 16, 2015, SCHLC:ii\JO sCiciMliEL, did unlawfully conce',I a11d kripv,i11gly fail to disclosetl1e 
9ccurrcr1ce of, ;md knowingly .l.ssis.t anµ cortSpI,,;e with artotl1ei: petso1rto conceal :1i1d lmowirigly fail to disclose f.hc. 
occ,mence of, nn e'l'ei1t that affected a pers611's Initial and continued dght and entitlement to '.ll1 insurance benefit.and 
payment, a:1d the amou,ryt ofa benefit ,n1d payment l:o whlch the pe1son was entitled, in violar;ion ofPENAL CODE 
SECTION 550():,)(3) (Ricardo Z.M.) 

COT)NT 14 - INSURANCE - CONCEAL EVENT AFFECTING CLAIM 

On or abollt j,me l(), 2015, SCHLOMO.SCHlvHJEL, did m1iawfully conceal and knowingly fail to .disdose t:l1e 
occ.urrence of, an.d knowingly l!ss1st and c911spire with .anotl1e,: p.erson to conce.al at1d knowinglyfiill to disdo;e the· 
0cc tir'rcilc e of) an- r::".vC.ri t tha-tc-aJfo cit6d-a-p(111s0nts. initi-al-fmd-ce.0htinued_:rJght-and-@ntitltmen t-tO'iui-lnsuranee--bmefit-and : 
payment, and tbe·amount.of a benefit :and payn1entto which the person was entitled, ii:1 vidation of PENAL.CODE 
SEC110N 550(b)(3) (Octavio C.Z.) 

NOTICE:.Ari)'dcfendant.nsmei:l.oii this complliintw4o·is on cdtninai probatiqn in San ,Di.ego Cpuntyjs, by J:ecdvingt4is 
complaint, 0.11 n0tice iliatthe ev:ide,oce•present.ed to the courtat:tlieli:::elimiifaiy heating on thisc:complaint is presented for' 
a d~ial ptirpose: the People aa:e seekinga.h0icfu1g ordei: 011 ilie charges pursuant to l;enalCodi,Se,;tion ·s12 and 
sirnultaneously, r..'1e. People are s.cekµ1ga revocation of the ;kfendant's. prdbatio11, .on anji ,ind all such probation gtitnts, 
utilizing the sani:e 'cvidence:,M the preliminary.heating. Defenses.to either or hoth procedures shoulµ be considered :41µ 
presented ,.,s ,ppropriate at the,pteliminruy hearing .. 

NOTICE:· Any ,refendi,nt nained or1 this coinp)a:int whD is on Mandatory Supervision in San D.iego County fa, by 
receiving this complaint, on notice that. the evidet:1~e-pr.esented to the cqur,t at rhe pre!imirnuo;hearlxlg an this complaint is 
presented for a du.al pmpose:. the. People are seekinga holding oder on the charges pursuant to Penal Code Sectioil 872 
and.simulta,1cously, the People .arc seekli1g a revocation o/;l;he: defoncla.nt's Mand,;tory Stlper,vision pursuant to Prnal Cade· 
Sections ll70(h)~5)(B) and 1203.2, on any and all .such grants, utilb.ir1gthe same evidwce, at the prelimirfary he-Aring, 
Defei.ise tneit1,e.r orboth procedur,s should be considttcd and presen.ted:as appi:oprlaie·at t:l;e pielimi11a·ry ),earing. 

Pursua11r ro PENAL CODE SECTION 1.QS,LS(b), tl1e People ate herebrin:fot1:nnlly req\ie"titig that defendant's co\lnsel 
prnvide discovety to the Peoi1le as req11ii:ed by PENA.t CODE SECTION 1054.3. . . 
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Sherifrs records indicate thar-ns of the booking date one or :more defendants have n.ot yet provided aDN1\ sample to the 
DOJ database. P\1,s1.w1t.to.Penol CodeSecti9;:t 296(e), .the court shall order coll<:ctip,i of DNA fr9m the defenditnt(s) :if 
advised by the piosecuting·,motney that a s·ample fa req1.ured bur hrts not been pwvided by the defendant. I'ursuanuo 
Pen~! r'.:ode sections 296/296.1, ifnot a!re:cdy reqcired from a past conviction, ~ny defe11dn11ts who have no( done so will 
be .required· fo provide a sample u1,on conviction ·of this felony' otfense. 

1DECLARE UNl)ER PENAI.::tY OF PERJURY THAT THE FO:tli!'.GOING rs '11{(.JE AND <::QllRECT AND 
THAT THIS COMPLAINT, CASE NUMBERCD280827, CONSISTS OF14 COT)NTS. 

EJ<ecuced at City ofSan I)iego, Coµnty of San Diego, State of Califomia, on March 7, 2019, 

~~~.,-~;?~d~✓- ~~-c~-·---
crnvIPLAINANT '~ 

, • •••, ••-• •••. •· •• •• • •••· • • •• u • •• ••ou•••• • ~••-•••• •••••••••••• ••. •• • •·•• •• •••, hwo ••nu••~· ,u, • nu ••••• · o' •••••• •••..••u--••••••.- <••• • ••• •••••••••H•••-- ,.,.~•••••••--•••.. •• ••-.••••••••"•• 

INFOfuvlA TXON SUMMER STEPHAN 
Di,h-ic,t Attotrief 
County:of San Die.go 
State of Califi:>,:Qi,1 · 
by: 

Date :Oep1.1ty l)isttict Attorney 
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!Pl I i E Ii'\ 
SUPERIOR COURT OF CALIFORNIA, COUNTY OF SAN DIEGO IJ Clar~ ol tht1~f.Wt¥&itft ll!WY 

AUG O 6 2019 
PEOPLE vs Schlomo Schmuel Defendant 

By: S.Adam 
COURT CASE NUMBER 

PLEA OF GUILTY/NO CONTEST - FELONY CD280827 
DA CASE NUMBER 

AEL959 ·-~. 
I, the defendant In the above-entitled case, in support of my plea ot§ilty}~n!est, personally declare as follows: 

1. Of those charges now filed against me in this case, I plead Guil to the following [3.'.2J
ff d d 'tth h t II r d I . r f IIo enses an a m, e en ancemen s, a ega ions an or or conv1c ions as o ows: 

COUNT 

2 

CHARGE 

Penal Code 550/b\/3\ 

ENHANCEMENT(S)/ALLEGATION(S) (List all for each count) 

PRIOR /SECTION NO.\ CONVICTION DATE COUNTY CASE NO. CHARGE/S) 

...--~, 
D Additional count(s)/prior(s) llsled on Plea of ~u_!JfyiNo-Cont<>sl-Fefony Attachment Page (SDSC Form 

#CRM-012A). 

2. I have not been induced to enter this plea by any promise or representation of any kind, except: (State any 
agrnament with the District Attorney.) 
5 year lid on state case. State sentence to run-concurrent with federal sentence. State sentence may be 
served in federal custody. (See attached: S. Schmuel's plea agreement in U.S. District Court (Southern Dist. 
CA) case# '19 CR3006 BAS, which is fully incorporated by reference herein.) 

3. I am entering my plea freely and voluntarily, without fear or threat to me or anyone closely related to me. 

4. I understand that a plea of No Contest is the same as a plea of Guilty for all purposes. 

5. I am sober and my judgment is not impaired. I have not consumed any drug, alcohol or narcotic within the 
past 24 hours. 

CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHTS 
6a. I understand that I have the right to be represented by a lawyer at all stages of the proceedings. I can hire 

rny own lawyer or the Court will appoint a lawyer for me if I cannot afford one. 

I understand that as to all charges, allegations and prior convictions filed against me, and as to any facts 
that may be used to Increase my sentence, now or in the future, I also have the following constitutional 
rights, which I now give UR to enter my plea of guilty/no contest: 

6b. I have the right 1o a speedy and public trial by jury. I now give up this right. 

6c. I have the right to confront and cross-examine all the witnesses against me. I now give up this right. 

6d. I have the right to remain sUent (unless I choose to testify on my own behall). I n·ow give up this right. 

6e. I have the right to present evidence in my behalf and to have the court subpoena my witnesses at no 
cost to me. f now give up this right. 
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DEFENDANT CASE NUMBER 
Schlomo Schmuel CD280827 

CONSEQUENCES OF PLEA OF GUilTY/NO CONTEST 

7a. I understand that I may receive this maximum punishment as a result of my plea:~ years imprisonment 
or Imprisonment plus a term of mandatory supervision;$ 100,000 fine; and~ years parole or 
post-release community supervision, with return to custody for every violation of a condition thereof. If I am 
not sentenced to imprisonment, I may be granted probation for a period up to 5 years or the maximum term 
of imprisonment, whichever is greater. As conditions of probation I may be given up to a year in jail custody, 
plus the fine, and any other conditions deemed reasonable by the Court. I understand that if I violate any 
condition of probation I can be sentenced to imprisonment for the maximum term as staled above. 

7b. I understand that I must pay a restitution fine ($300 - $10,000), that I will also be subject to a suspended 
fine in the same amount, and that I must pay full restitution to all victims. 

7c. I understand that my conviction in this case will be a serious/violent felony ("strike") resulting in mandatory 
denial of probation, substantially increased penalties, and a term in State Prison in any future felony case. 

7d. Immigration consequences: (1) I understand that if I am not a U.S. citizen, this plea of Guilty/No Contest 
may, and for certain offenses will (see page 4), have the consequences of removal/deportation, exclusion 
from admission to the United States, and/or denial of naturalization pursuant to the laws of the U.S.; (2) I 
understand I have the right to request additional lime to consider my plea in light of the advisement in this 
paragraph; (3) I have discussed my immigration status with my attorney and have had sufficient time to 
consider and discuss the immigration consequences of my plea with him/her or an immigration attorney. 

7e. I understand that my plea of''G_~jlty/N0-G0ntest in this case could result in revocation of my probation, 
mandatory supervision, paroleor post-release supervision in other cases, and consecutive sentences. 

7f. My attorney has explained to me.that other possible consequences of this plea may be: 
(Circle applicable consequences.) 

(1) Consecutive sentences 
(2) Loss of driving privileges 
(3) Commitment to.Youth 

Authority 
(4) Lifetime registration as an 

arson/ sex offender 
(5) Registration as a narcotic I 

.,-e- gang offender 
(._(gJ__./Cannot possess firearms or 
,...;:·· ammunition 
(_.Q'},' Blood test _and saliva sample
QB)! Pnorable (increased 

' punishment for future 
offenses) 

--····-· 
([~;;; Prison prior 
(10) Mandatory imprisonment 
(11) Mandatory State Prison 
(12) Presumptive imprisonment 
(13) Presumptive State Prison 
(14) Sexually Violent Predator 

Law 
(15) Possible/Mandatory 

hormone suppression 
treatment 

(16) Reduced conducVwork 
credits 

a. Limited local credits 
(290/serious/prior) 

b. Violent Felony (No credit 
or max. 15%) 

c. Prior Strike{s) (No credit 
to max. 20%) 

d. Murder on/after 6/3/98 
✓,;'~· (No credit) 
1.(JJJ..,Loss of public assistance 
(18) AIDS education program
(19) Other: ______ 

8. (Appeal Rights) I give up my right to appeal the following: 1) denial of my 1538.5 motion, 2) issues related 
to strike priors (under PC sections 667(b)-(i) and 1170.12), and 3) any sentence sllpulated herein. 

9. (Harvey Waiver) The sentencing Judge may consider my prior criminal history and the entire factual 
background of the case, including any unfiled, dismissed or stricken charges or allegations·or cases when 
granting probation, ordering restitution or imposing sentence. 

10. (Blakely Waiver) I understand that as to any fact in aggravation that may be used to increase my sentence 
on any count or allegation to the upper or maximum term provided by law, I have the conslitu!ional rights 
listed in paragraphs 6b-6e. I now give up those rights and agree that the sentencing judge may determine 
the existence or non-existence of any fact in aggravation, either at the Initial sentencing or at any future 
sentencing in the event my probation is revoked. 

11. (Cruz Waiver) Negotiated Disposition pursuant to PC 1192.5: I understand that if pending sentencing I am 
arrested for or commit another crime, violate any condition of my release, or willfully fail to appear for my 
probation interview or my sentencing hearing, the sentence portion of this agreement will be cancelled. I will 
be sentenced unconditionally, and I will not be allowed to withdraw my guilty/no contest plea(s). 

SDSC CRM•012 (Rov. 2/18) PLEA OF GUILTY/NO CONTEST· FELONY Pago 2
Mm1ds1!ory Form 



DEFENDANT CASE NUMBER 
Schlomo Schmuel CD280827 

12. (Arbuckle Waiver) I give up my right lo be sentenced by the judge who accepts this plea. 

13. (Proballon Report) I give up my right to a full probation report before sentencing. 

14. (Evidence Disposal Waiver) I give up my interest in all non-biological property/evidence impounded during 
the investigation of this case except (None) and acknowledge that If I listed any 
property here, I must also file a claim with the impounding agency within 60 days after pronouncement of 
judgment or my ability to make a claim will expire. 

PLEA 

15. I now plead Guilty/No Contest and admit the charges, convictions and allegations described in Item 1. 
admit that on the dates charged, I: (Describe facts as to each charge and a/legation) 
(See attached: S. Schmuel's plea agreement in U.S. District Court (Southern Dist. CA) case# 19 CR3006 BAS 
which includes a recitation of state crimes, factual bases, and terms of state plea agreement. The attached 
federal plea agreement is fully incorporated by reference herein.) 

16. I declare under penalty of perjury that I have read, understood, and initialed e bove and any
attached ad end m, and everything on the form and any attached addendum Is ue orrect. 

CitY. State 
Telephone Number: ( '?/;i )l.fJ L/ 1: - .:S L8U 

Defendant's Right Thumb Print'--------' 

ATTORNEY'S STATEMENT 

I, the attorney for 1he defendant in the above-entitled case, personally read and explained to the defendant the entire 
contents of this plea form and any addendum thereto. I discL1ssed all charges and possible defenses with the defendant, 
and the consequences of this plea. I have asked the defendant about his/her immigration status, advised defendant 
of the immigration consequences of this plea to the best of my ability, and advised defendant of the right to 
additional time to discuss this matter with an immigration attorney. I personally observed the defendant fill in and 
initial each item, or read and initial each item to acknowledge his/her understandi g and waivers. I observed the defendant 
date and sign this form and any addendu';1. Iconcur in the defendant's plea n wa· er of con~~al rights. 

Dated: ?{~ I 1'i ·fav i.. 1--l Di:)\ r.),-' , f7L---
(Prlnt Name} t rn yfor Defendant ~re} 

(Circl one: PD/ APD / OAC~ 

INTERPRETER'S STATEMENT 

I, the sworn --,---,.,,.-,--c---.,---,,.---;- 'anguage interpreter in this proceeding, truly translated for the defendant the 
entire contents of this form and any attached addendum. The defendant indicated understanding of the contents of this 
form and any addendum and then initialed and signed the form and any addendum. 

Dated: __________ 
(Print Name} Court Interpreter (Signature} 

PROSECUTOR'S STATEMENT 

The People of the State of California, plaintiff, by its attorney, the District Attornpffor the County of San Diego, concurs with 
the defendant's ~e~of_ ~~ilt~/No Contest as set forth above. .'J /,I' eL _,-··--··-· 

1Dated: .\·.' / / / C/ John Philpott . ,1 /1 / --
L. { (Print Name) ·/Deputy District Attorney (Signature)

I 
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DEFENDANT CASE NUMBER 

Schlomo Schmuel CD280827 

COURT'S FINDING AND ORDER 
The Court, having questioned the defendant and defendant's attorney concerning the defendant's plea of Guilty/No Contest 
and admissions of the prior convictions and allegations, if any, finds that: The defendant understands and voluntarily and 
intelligently waives his/her constitutional rights; the defendant's plea and admissions are freely and voluntarily made; the 
defendant unders\ands the nature of the charges and the consequences of the plea and admissions; and there is a factual 
basis for sai;iir _t~e 9ourt accepts the defendant's plea and admissions, a,.tce defendant is convigted thereby. 

,jl ,, 1 !•/ ? ,? ,I ,!fl
Dated: :;~Y y,:>:f:,·:1 ,. (J n/d ✓( ✓-i(tJ,,,.1#.lf'i.f(.A 

~- • C,4Xjt " 7 
'" ~- J~dge of the Superior COIJ,,:i.._ 

IMMIGRATION CONSEQUENCE$'/ V flUGENlf-l l;;Y!-lJ;;RAf;lli;I;,; 
If you are not a U.S. citizen, you should consult your attorney or an immigration attorney about the immigration 
consequences of your plea, particularly if your offense might qualify as an 'aggravated felony," crime of moral turpitude, 
controlled substance offense, firearm offense, or domestic violence offense (see below). It is your attorney's obligation to 
provide you with accurate and affirmative advice about the immigration consequences of your plea, and you have the right 
to additional time to evaluate those immigration consequences. By entering a plea, you are indicating to the court you know 
of and understand the specific immigration consequences that will result from your conviction. 

Immigration consequences are a matter of federal law. Whether an offense qualifies as one of the "aggravated felonies" 
listed below is determined by federal statutes and case law. (See Esquivel-Quintana v. Sessions (2017) _ U.S. _, 137 
S.Ct. 1562, 198 L.Ed.2d 22.) Certain offenses defined as misdemeanors under State law may be considered 
"aggravated felonies" under federal law. 

Any conviction of a non-citizen for an "aggravated felony" will result in removal/deportation, exclusion, and/or denial of 
naturalization. (See 8 U.S.C. § 1227(a)(2)(A)(iii).) "Aggravated felonies" (see 8 U.S.C. § 1101 (a)(43)) include but are not limited 
to: 

(1) Murder; rape; or sexual abuse of a minor; 
(2) A crime of violence, as defined in 18 U.S.C. § 16, but not Including a purely political offense;' 
(3) Trafficking of a controlled substance, firearms, destructive devices or explosive materials; 
(4) Money laundering if the amount exceeds $10,000; 
(5) An explosive materials offense; 
(6) A firearms offense; 
(7) A theft offense, including receipt of stolen property, or burglary offense;' 
(8) Child pornography; 
(9) Pimping, pandering, or operating a prostitution business; 
(10) Human trafficking; 
(11) Fraud or deceit in which the loss to the victim or victims exceeds $10,000; 
(12) Failure to appear by a defendant for service of a sentence if !he underlying offense is punishable by imprisonment for a term 

of five years or more, or failure to appear to answer or resolve a felony for which a sentence of two years' imprisonment or 
more may be imposed; 

(13) Commercial bribery, counterfeiting, forgery, or trafficking In vehicles the identification numbers of which have been altered;* 
(14) Obstruction of justice, perjury or subornation of perjury, or bribery of a witness;* 
(15) An attempt or conspiracy to commit any of the above offenses. 

'If the term of imprisonment is at least one year. 

Other crimes (as defined by federal /aw) that may result in removal/deportation, exclusion, and/or denial of naturalizaiion or other 
severe immigration consequences Include, but are not limited to: 
(1) A crime of moral turpitude (see 8 U.S.C. §§ 1182(a)(2)(A)(O, 1227(a)(2)(A)(i)); 
(2) A controlled substance offense (see 8 U.S.C. §§ 1182(a)(2)(A)(i), 1182(a)(2)(C), 1227(a)(2)(B)): 
(3) A firearm or destructive device offense (see 8 U.S.C. § 1227(a)(2)(C)); 
(4) A domestic violence, stalking, or child abuse offense (see SU.S.C. § 1227(a)(2)(E)(i)); 
(5) Violation of a protective order (see 8 U.S.C. § 1227(a)(2)(E)(ii)): 
(6) A human trafficking offense (see 8 U.S.C. §§ 1182(a)(2)(H), 1227(a)(2)(F)); 
(7) Multiple criminal convictions with an aggregate sentence of five years or more (see 8 U.S.C. § 1182(a)(2)(B)); 
(8) A prostitution offense (see 8 U.S.C. § 1182(a)(2)(D)); 
(9) A "serious criminal offense," which Includes any felony, a crime of violence, and reckless driving or DUI with injury 

(see 8 U.S.C § 1182(a)(2)(E)). 
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ROBERT S. BREWER, JR. 
United States Attorney 
VALERIE H. CHU AUG O ' ?n19 
Assistant United States Attorney 
California Bar No. 241709 
Federal Office Building 
880 Front Street, Room 6293 
San Diego, California 92101-8893 

Attorneys for United States of· America 

tlNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF CJU.IFORNIA 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, 

Plaintiff, 
PLEA AGREEMENT 

SCHLOMO SCHMUEL, 

Defendant. 

V, 

IT rs HEREBY AGREED between the plaintiff, UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, 

through its counsel, Robert L, Brewer, Jr,, United States Attorney, and 

Valerie H. Chu, Assistant United States Attorney, and defendant SCHLOMO 

SCHMUEL, with the advice and consent of Richard Moss and Harland Braun, 

counsel for Defendant,. as follows, 

II 
II 
II 
II 
II 
II 
II 
II 
II 
II 
II 
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I 

THE PLEA 

1. This agreement is intended to bind the following parties: 

a, Defendant SCHLOMO SCHMUEL; 

b. The United States Attorney's Office ("USAO"); and 

c, The San Diego County District Attorney's Office ("SDCDAO") as 

to Criminal Case Number CD280827 currently pending in the 

Superior Court of California, County of San Diego (hereinafter 

"the state cases"), 

2. This plea agreement cannot bind any other federal, state or 

local prosecuting, administrative, or regulatory authorities, although 

the USAO or SDCDAO will bring this plea agreement to the attention of 

other authorities if requested by Defendant. 

3. With regards to the federal case, Defendant agrees to waive 

indictment and plead guilty to an Information charging Conspiracy to 

Commit Honest Services Mail Fraud and Heal th Care Fraud, in violation 

of 18 U,S,C. § 371. 

4. In exchange for Defendant's guilty plea in the federal case, 

the USAO agrees to: not prosecute Defendant for the conduct set forth 

in the Factual Basis unless Defendant breaches the plea agreement or any 

of the guilty pleas entered pursuant to this plea agreement are set 

aside for any reason. Defendant expressly waives all constitutional and 

statutory defenses to the initiation of any charges not brought pursuant 

to this agreement. 

5. With regards to the state case, . defendant SCHLOMO SCHMUEL 

agrees to plead guilty to the following charges in the following case: 

a. Case Number CD280827, People v. Scnlomo Schmuel: Count 2 and 

Count 5: Unlawfully Conceal and Event Affecting an Insurance 

Claim in violation of California Penal Code Section 550(b) (3) 

b. The combined maximum state penalty for both counts is 6 years 

state prison and a fine of$ $100,000. 

6. Pursuant to California Labor Code 139. 21 (e) (1), Defendant 

Schlomo Schmuel admits that he owns 100% of Diamond Orthopedic Services, 

2 
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LLC and agrees to the dismissal of all liens and forfeiture of sums 
l 

claimed therein, and waiver of any right to seek collection of sums 
2 

claimed in such liens in the California Workers'• Compensation System, 

3 regarding any liens which arise from bills with the following 

4 characteristics: ( 1) the referring provider (Box 17 on CMS 1500) was 

Steven J, Rigler, DC; Jose Candelario DC (AKA Joserodel Zavala 

Candelario, DC); Dirk H. Kancilia, DC; or Phong H. Tran, MD; (2) the 
.6 

service billed for was CPT code E0217 (Water circulating heat pad with 
7 

pump); or CPT code L0621 (SIO fl.ex pelvic/sacral brace); and (3) the 
8 provider was Diamond Orthopedic Services, LLC (TIN 46-1687642, NPI 

9 1174860522), as these liens arise from fraud. 

7. In exchange for Defendant's plea to the above-referenced count 

in the state case, the SDCDAO agrees to dismis.s the remaining counts11 
against him with a waiver pursuant to People v. Harvey, 25 Cal,3d 754 

12 
(1979). The SDCDAO further agrees to recommend that Defendant be 

13 
sentenced on the state case to no more than 4 years state prison, to 

14 be served concurrently with his sentence in the federal case, that his 

state sentence may be served in federal custody, that he receive the 

l6 standard restitution fine(s), and that the court order full restitution 

if applicable pursuant to California law. The ultimate state case
17 

sentencing decision is within the sole discretion of the state court 
18 

judge, A copy of the written and signed plea agreement in the state 
19 case is incorporated herein. 

II 

NATURE OF THE OFFENSE21 

A. FEDERAL CASE: ELEMENTS EXPLAINED22 
Defendant understands that the offense to which he is pleading

23 
guilty has the following elements:· 

24 
Conspiracy [18 U,S.C. § 371] 

1. · There was an agreement between two or more persons to 

26 cornmi.t Honest Services Mail Fraud and Health Care Fraud; 

27 

28 
3 
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2. The defendant entered into the agreement knowing of at 

least one of its objects and intending to help accomplish 

it; and 

3. One of the co-conspirators committed at least one overt 

act in furtherance of the conspiracy. 

Ronest Services Mail Fraud (18 U.S.C. § 1341 and 1346] 

1. The defendant devised or knowingly participated in a 

scheme to deprive a victim of his or her right to a 

doctor's honest services; 

2. The scheme consisted of soliciting and facilitating the 

receipt of kickback payments from suppliers of health­

care services and products to be paid to the doctor in 

exchange for referrals; 

3. The doctor, as a healthcare professional, owed a 

fiduciary duty to the victim; 

4. The defendant acted with the intent to defraud by 

depriving the victim of his or her right to the doctor's 

honest services; 

5. The defendant's act was material; that is, it had a 

natural tendency to influence, or was capable of 

influencing, a person's acts; and 

6, The defendant used 1 or caused someone to use, the mails 

to carry out or to attempt to carry out the scheme or 

plan. 

Heath Care Fraud [18 U.S.C. § 1347] 

1. The defendant knowingly executed, or attempted to 

execute, a scheme or. artifice to defraud a health-care 

benefit program, or. to obtain money or property owned 

by, or under the custody or control of, a heaith-care 

benefit program by means of false or fraudulent 

pretenses, representations, or promises. 

2. The false or fraudulent pretenses, representations, or 

promises related to a material fact. 

4
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3. The defendant acted willfully and intended to defraud. 

4. The defendant did so in connection with the delivery of 

or payment for health-care benefits, items, or services. 

B. FEDERAL CASE FAC'rUAL BASIS: ELEMENTS (JNDERSTOOD AND ADMITTED 

Defendant has fully discussed the facts of the federal case and the 

state cases with defense counsel. Defendant has committed each of the 

elements of Conspiracy to Commit Honest Services Mail Fraud and Health 

Care Fraud, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 371, and admits that there is a 

factual basis for the guilty plea in the federal case, Specifically, 

Defendant admits: 

1. Defendant SCHLOMO SCHMUEL was a licensed doctor of pediatric 

medicine in the state of California from 1992 to 2019. He owned and 

operated various business, including Diamond Orthopedics Services, LLC, 

Schlomo Schmuel, D.P.M., Inc., Innovative Orthopedic Solution, Sunset 

Ambulatory Surgical Center, and Sunset Foot Clinic Corporation, among 

others (together, "Schmuel Entities"), 

2. From at least 2014 through 2015, within the Southern District 

of California and elsewhere, defendant SCHLOMO SCHMUEL knowingly and 

intentionally conspired with JULIAN GARCIA, BORIS DADIOMOV, STEVEN 

RIGLER, JOSE CANDELARIO, and others to commit the offenses of Honest 

Services Mail Fraud, in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1341 and 1346, and 

Health Care Fraud, in violation of 18 u. S.C. § 1347. It was the goal 

of the conspiracy to fraudulently obtain money from health care benefit 

programs by submitting claims for medical gooqs and services that were 

generated through a secret pattern of bribes to physicians (and those 

acting with them and on their behalf), to induce the physicians to refer 

patients for those services, and to refer to particular providers, in 
violation of the physicians' fiduciary duty to their patients. 

3. It was a further part of the conspiracy that the co-
conspirators concealed from patients, and intended to cause the 

physicians to conceal from patients, the kickback and bribe payments 

made to physicians for referring patients to companies o«ned by the co-

5 
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conspirators or in which they had an interest, in violation of the 

physicians' fiduciary duty to their patients. 

4. It was a further part of the conspiracy that the co-

conspirators utilized the mails as an essential part of their fraudulent 

scheme, including by mailing bills to insurance carriers. 

5. It was a further part of the conspiracy that co-conspirators 

billed, and caused insurers to bill, for services provided to patients 

that the co-conspirators had procured by paying bribes and kickbacks. 

6. It was a further part of the conspiracy that the co-

conspirators concealed from insurers and patients the material fact of 

the kickback arrangements, which were in violation of California state 

law, that led to the referrals. 

7. Knowing that paying a per-patient referral fee was unlawful, 

Defendant offered to pay and paid $100 for each referral of a certain 

type of durable medical equipment ("DME"), called a "hot/cold pack," 

that his co-conspirators could induce physicians to refer to Schmuel 

Entities. During the period 2014 through 2015, defendant SCHLOMO SCHMUEL 

knowingly paid GARCIA more than $372,000 in these unlawful, per-patient 

referral fees. 

8. Defendant agrees that he intentionally engaged in or caused 

conduct constituting sophisticated means, including by, in an effort to 

·conceal the corrupt payments for patient referrals, directing payments 

through intermediaries, including "marketing" companies, and executing 

"marketing" agreements with those intermediaries, when in reality the 

payments were unlawful per-patient referral fees. B"urther, Defendant 

SCHLOMO SCHMUEL attempted to conceal these unlawful per-patient 

referral fees by making payments to GARCIA from corporations such as 

Sunset Ambulatory Surgical Center, Inc., Innovative Orthopedic 

Solution, and Sunset Foot Clinic Corporation, all of which had no direct 

connection to Diamond Orthopedics Services, LLC and/or had no direct 

connection to providing patients with hot/cold packs. Defendant SCHLOMO 

SCHMUEL frequently divided the per-patient referral fees among his 

corporations to conceal the fact the payments were made on a per-patient 

6 
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referral !)asis, even though he provided the payments to GARCII\ on the 

same day. 

9. Defendant agrees that his offense involved abuse of a position 

of trust with respect to patients, 

10. Defendant agrees that the California Workers' Compensation 

System is a government health care program, in that it is a plan or 

program that provides health benefits, which is funded directly, in 

whole or in part, by federal or state government. 

11, Using the manners and means described above, Defendant and 

his co-conspirators submitted and caused to be submitted claims valued 

at between $ 3, 5 million and $9, 5 million for hot/cold packs procured 

through the payment of bribes and kickbacks. 

12, Defendant agrees that as an overt act of his conspiracy, on 

or about May 15, 2015, Defendant SCHLOMO SCHMUEL issued two checks, one 

from "Innovative Orthopedic Solution," and one from "Sunset Ambulatory 

surgical Center, Inc.," for $12,350.00 each, to \'Memphis Media, n a 

company associated with JULII\N GI\RCII\, as compensation for referring 

workers' Compensation patients to defendant SCHMUEL for a "hot / cold 

pack," 

13. Defendant agrees that as an overt act of his conspiracy, on 

or about May 24, 2015, Defendant SCHMUEL through Diamond Orthopedic 

Services issued a bill to ESIS insurance company for $5,950 for Durable 

Medical Equipment provided to Mayra P. 

C, STATE CASE: ELEMENTS EXPLI\INED 

Defendant understands that the offenses to which he is pleading 

guilty in the state cases have the following elements: 

Unlawfully Conceal an Event Affecting an Insurance Claim 

(California Penal Code, Section 550(b) (3)) 

1. Defendant did, knowingly assist, or conspire with 

another, to conceal or fail to disclose the occurrence 

of an event; 

7 
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2. That affects any person's right or entitlement to an 

insurance benefit or payment, or amount of benefit or 

payment; and 

3. With the specific intent to defraud. 

D. STATE CASES FACTUAL BASES: ELEMENTS UNDERSTOOD AND ADMITTED 

Defendant has fully discussed the facts of the state case with his 

defense counsel. Defendant has committed each of the elements of 

unlawfully concealing an event affecting an insurance claim, in 

violation of California Penal Code, Section 550(b) (3) and admits the 

following facts are true and undisputed: 

As to Count 2 of Case Number CD280827, California Penal Code 

Section 550(b) (3): On or about June 15, 2015, Defendant Schlomo Schmuel 

did aid and abet and conspire with Julian Garcia, Alexander Kiev 

Martinez and Steven Rigler to fraudulently submit a bi11 to Liberty 

Mutual Insurance Company for $5,000 for a "Hot Cold Pack" (CPT Code 

E0217) on a .California Workers' Compensation patient (Juan C.). 

Defendant Schmuel made a $100 kickback payment to Julian Garcia for the 

referral of Juan c., a patient of Steven Rigler, D.C. rn exchange for 

Defendant Schmuel' s $100 kickback payment, Defendant Schmuel received 

a Rigler prescription for a "Hot Cold Pack" for patient Juan c. 
Defendant Schmuel provided a "Hot Cold Pack" to Juan C. Defendant 

Schmuel billed Liberty Mutual Insurance Company $5000 for filling the 

prescription. Defendant Schmuel did not disclose to, and actively 

concealed from, Liberty Mutual Insurance Company that Defendant Schmuel 

paid an illegal kickback for the referral of patient Juan C. 's "Hot 

Cold Pack" prescription, and did so with the intent to defraud. Had 

Liberty Mutual Insurance Company known of the illegal kickback, Liberty 

Mutual Insurance Company would not have paid anything on the bill, as 

it would have been legally void. 

As to Count 5, of Case Number CD280827: On or about and between 

June 1, 2015, and June 30, 2015, Defendant Schlomo Schmuel did aid and 

abet and conspire with Julian Garcia, Alexander Kiev Martinez and Steven 

Rigler to fraudulently submit a bill to Insurance Company of the West 

8 
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for $5,000 for a "Hot Cold Pack" (CPT Code E0217) on California Workers' 

Compensation patient (Esteban C,), Defendant Schmuel made a $100 

kickback payment to Julian Garcia for the referral of Esteban C., a 

patient of Steven Rigler, D.C. In exchange for Defendant Schmuel's $100 

kickback payment; Defendant Schmuel received a Rigler prescription for 

a ''Hot Cold Pack" for patient Esteban C. Defendant Schmuel provided 

a "Hot Cold Pack" to Esteban C. Defendant Schmuel billed Insurance 

Company of the West $5000 for filling the prescription. Defendant 

Schmuel did not disclose to, and actively concealed from, Insurance 

Company of the West that Defendant Schmuel paid an illegal kickback for 

the referral of patient Esteban C.' s "Hot Cold Pack" prescription, and 

did so with the intent to defraud. Had Insurance Company of the West 

known of the illegal kickback, Insurance Company of the West would not 

have paid anything on the bill, as it would have been legally void. 

III 

PENALTIES 

A. FEDERAL CASE 

Defendant understands that Conspiracy, in violation of 18 u.s.c. 
§371, to which Defendant is pleading guilty in the federal case carries 

the following penalties: 

A. a maximum 5 years in prison; 

B. a maximum $250,000 fine, or twice the gross gain or loss 

derived from the offense; 

C. a mandatory special assessment of $100 per count; and 

D. a term of supervised release of 3 years. Defendant understands 

that failure to comply with any of the conditions of supervised 

release may result in revocation of supervised release, 

requiring defendant to serve in prison, upon any such 

revocation, all or part of the statutory maximum term of 

supervised release for the offense that resulted in such term 

of supervised release. 

E. an order from the Court pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 3663A that 

Defendant make mandatory restitution to the victims of the 

9
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offense of conviction, or the estate (s} of the victims (s). 

Defendant understands that the Court shall also order, if 

agreed to by the parties in this plea agreement, restitution 

to persons other than the victims of the offense of conviction. 

F. an order of forfeiture of any property, real or personal, 

which constitutes or is derived from proceeds t,;aceable to the 

offense. 

IV 

DEFENDAw.l'' S WAIVER OF TRIAL RIGHTS IN FEDERAL CASE 

Defendant understands that this guilty plea waives the right to: 

A, Continue to plead not guilty and require the Government to 

prove the elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt; 

B. A speedy and public trial by jury; 

C. The assistance of counsel at all stages of trial; 

D, Confront and cross-examine adverse witnesses; 

E. Testify and present evidence and to have witnesses .testify 

on behalf of defendant; and, 

F. Not testify or have any adverse inferences drawn from the 

failure to testify. 

Defendant knowingly and voluntarily waives any rights and defenses 

Defendant may have under the Excessive Fines Clause of the Eighth 

Amendment to the United States Constitution to the forfeiture of property 

in this proceeding or any related civil proceeding. 

V 

Dl!lFENDANT ACKNOWLEDGES NO PRETRIAL RIGHT TO Bl!l 

PROVIDED WITH IMl?E~CHMENT AND AFFI!<MATIVE DEFENSE INFORMATION 

'fhe USAO and SDCDAO represent that any information establishing the 

factual innocence of Defendant known to the undersigned prosecutors in 

this case has been turned over to defendant. The USAO and SDCDAO will 

continue to provide such information establishing the factual innocence 

of defendant, 

Defendant understands that if this case proceeded to trial, the 

USAO and SDCDAO would be required to provide impeachment information 

10
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relating to any informants or other witnesses. In addition, if defendant 

raised an affirmative defense, the USAO and SDCDAO would be required to 

provide information in its possession that supports such a defense. 

Defendant acknowledges, however, that by pleading guilty, Defendant will 

not be provided this information, if any, and Defendant also waives the 

right to this information. Finally, Defendant agrees not to attempt to 

withdraw the guilty plea or to file a collateral attack based on the 

existence of this information. 

VI 

DEFENDANT'S REPRESENTATION THAT GUILTY 

PLEAS ARE RNOWING AND VOLUNTARY 

Defendant represents that: 

A. Defendant has had a full opportunity to discuss all the facts 

and circumstances of this case with defense counsel and has a 

clear understanding of the charges and the consequences of 

this• plea. Defendant understands that, by pleading guilty, 

Defendant may be giving up, and rendered ineligible to 

receive, valuable government benefits and civic rights, such 

as the right to vote, the right to possess a firearm, the 

right to hold office, and the right to serve on a jury. 

Defendant further understands that the conviction in this case 

may subject Defendant to various collateral consequences, 

including but not limited to deportation, removal or other 

adverse immigration consequences; revocation of probation, 

parole, or supervised release in another case; debarment from 

government contracting; and suspension or revocation of a 

professional license, as well as civil and administrative 

liability, none of vihich will serve as grounds to withdraw 

Defendant's guilty plea. 

B, No one has made any promises or offered any rewards in 

return for this guilty plea, other than those contained in 

this agreement or otherwise disclosed to the Court. 
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c. No one has threatened Defendant or Defendant's family to 

induce this guilty plea, 

D. Defendant is pleading guilty because in truth and in fact 

Defendant is guilty and for no other reason. 

VII 

APPLICABILITY OF SENTENCING GUIDELINES 

Defendant understands the sentence imposed will be based on the 

factors set forth in 18 U.S.C, § 3553(a). Defendant understands further 

that in imposing the sentence, the sentencing judge must consult the 

United States Sentencing Guidelines (Guidelines) and take them into 

account, Defendant has discussed the Guidelines with defense counsel 

and understands that the Guidelines are only advisory, not mandatory, 

and the Court may impose a sentence more severe or less severe than 

otherwise applicable under the Guidelines, up to the maximum in the 

statute of conviction, Defendant understands further that the sentence 

cannot be determined until a presentence report has been prepared by the 

U.S. Probation Office and both defense counsel and the OS/\O have had an 

opportunity to review and challenge the presentence report. Nothing in 

this plea agreement shall be construed as limiting the US/\O's duty to 

provide complete and accurate facts to the district court and the U.S. 

Probation Office. 

VII:t 

SENTENCE IS WITHIN SOLE DISCRETION OF JUDGE 

This plea agreement is made pursuant to Federal Rule of Criminal 

Pr:ocedure 11 (c) (1) (B) . Defendant understands that the sentence is 

within the sole discretion of the sentencing judge. The US/\0 has not 

made and will not make any representation as to what sentence Defendant 

will receive. Defendant understands that the sentencing judge may impose 

the maximum sentence provided by statute, and is also aware that any 

estimate of the probable sentence by defense counsel is a prediction, 

not a promise, and is not binding on the Court. Likewise, the 

recommendation made by the USAO is not binding on the Court, and it is 

uncertain at this time what Defendant's sentence will be. Defendant 
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also has been advised and understands that if the sentencing judge does 

not follow any of the parties' sentencing recommendations, Defendant 

nevertheless has no right to withdraw his pleas. 

IX 

PARTIES' SENTENCING RECOMMENDATIONS 

A. SENTENCING GUIDELINE CALCULATIONS 

Although the parties understand that the Guidelines are only 

advisory and just one of the factors the Court will consider under 18 

u.s.c. § 3553(a) in imposing a sentence, the parties will jointly 

recommend the following Base Offense Level, Specific Offense 

Characteristics, Adjustments and Departures: 

1. Base Offense Level (§ 2B1.1] 6 

2. Intended loss $3.5 mill to $9.5 mill +18 

[§ 2B1.1 (b) (1) (H) J 

3. Loss of> $1 mill to Govt health care program +2 

4. Sophisticated Means [§ 2B1 .1 (b) (10) (C) J +2 

5. Abuse of Position of Trust [§ 3B1,3) +2 

6. Acceptance of Responsibility [§ 3El.1] -3 

B, ACCEPTANCE OF RESPONSIBILITY 

Notwithstanding paragraph A above, the USAO will not be obligated 

to recommend any adjustment for Acceptance of Responsibility under 

U.S,S.G. §§ 3El.1 or 8C2,5 if Defendant engages in conduct inconsistent 

with acceptance of responsibility including, but not limited to, the 

following: 

1. Fails to truthfully admit a complete factual basis as 

stated in the plea at the time the plea is entered, or 

falsely denies, or makes a statement inconsistent 

with, the factual basis set forth in this agreement; 

2. Falsely denies prior criminal conduct or convictions; 

3. Is untruthful with the Government, the Court or 

probation officer; 

4. Materially breaches this plea agreement in any way; or 

13 
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5. Contests or assists any third party in contesting the 

forfeiture of property (ies) seized in connection with 

this case, and any property (ies) to which the 

defendant has agreed to forfeit 

attached forfeiture addendum. 

as set forth in the 

c, FURTHER ADJUSTMENTS AND SENTENCE REDUCTIONS 
INCLUDING THOSE UNDER 18 U.S.C, § 3553 

The parties agree that Defendant may request or recommend 

additional downward adjustments, departures, including criminal history 

departures under USSG § 4A1.3, or sentence reductions under 18U,S.C. 

§ 3553. The USAO may oppose any downward adjustments, departures and 

sentence reductions not set forth in Section X, paragraph A above. 

D, NO AGREEMENT AS TO CRIMINAL HISTORY CATEGORY 

The parties have no agreement as to Defendant's Criminal History 

Category. 

E. "FAC'rUAL BASIS" AND "RELEVANT CONDUCT" INFORMATION 

The parties agree that the facts in the "factual basis" sections 

of this agreement as to both the federal. case and the state cases are 

true, and may be considered as "relevant conduct" under USSG § 1B1, 3 and 

as the nature and circumstances of the offense under 18 U. s. C. § 

3553 (a) (1) . 

F. PARTIES' RECOMMENDATIONS REGARDING CUSTODY 

The parties agree that the USAO will recommend the statutory 

maximum, 60 months, which is lower than the advisory Guidelines range, 

and accordingly, is the Guidelines sentence. 

G. SPECIAL ASSESSMENT/FINE/RESTITUTION/FORFEITURE 

1. Special Assessment 

The parties will jointly recommend that Defendant pay a special. 

assessment in the amount of $100. 00 per count of conviction in the 

federal case to be paid forthwith at the time of sentencing. The special 

assessments shall be paid through the office of the Clerk of the District 

Court by bank or cashier's check or money order made payable to the 

"Clerk, United States District Court." 
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2. Restitution 

The parties do not recommend imposition of a resti tut ion order in 

the federal case in light of the difficulty of determining the 

individualized loss amounts suffered by each victim due to Defendant's 

conduct, see 18 USC § 3553A(c) (3) (B), and in the interest of judicial 

efficiency to avoid duplication of restitution proceedings in state 

court. Defendant understands that restitution may be ordered in the 

state case pursuant to Defendant's guilty pleas in that matter. 

3. Fine 

The parties will jointly recommend that Defendant be ordered to pay 

a fine of $150,000. 

4. Forfeiture 

Defendant Schlomo Schmuel agrees to the dismissal of al.l liens and 

forfeiture of sums claimed therein as set forth at paragraph (I) (6), 

supra. 

H. SUPERVISED RELEASE 

If the Court imposes a· term of supervised release, the parties 

agree that Defendant will not seek to reduce or terminate early the term 

of supervised release until Defendant has served at least 2/3 of the 

term. 

X 

DEFENDANT WAIVES Al?l?EAL AND COLLATERAL ATTACK 

A, WAIVER OF RIGHT TO APPEAL CONVICTION 

In exchange for the concessions by the USAO and SDCDAO in the 

federal and state cases in this plea agreement, Defendant waives, to the 

full extent of the law, any right to appeal the convictions and sentence 

in either the federal or state cases. 

B, WAIVER OF RIGHT TO COLLATERAL ATTACK 

Defendant waives, to the full extent of the law, any right to 

collaterally attack the conviction and/or sentence, except for a 

post-conviction collateral attack based on a claim of ineffective 

assistance of counsel. 

II 
15 

19CR 
Def, Initials n-



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

C. OBJECTIONS TO UNITED STATES' RECOMMENDATION 

If Defendant believes the recommendation by the USAO or SDCDAO is 

not in accord with this plea agreement, Defendant will object at the 

time of sentencing; otherwise the objection will be deemed waived. 

XI 

BREACH OF Tl!E PLEA AGREEMENT 

A. MATERIAL BREACH OF PLEA AGREEMENT 

Defendant acknowledges, understands, and agrees that if Defendant 

violate or fail to perform any of Defendant's obligations under this 

agreement, such violation or failure to perform will constitute a 

material breach of this agreement. 

Defendant acknowledges, understands, and agrees further that the 

following non-exhaustive list of conduct. by Defendant unquestionably 

constitutes a material breach of this plea agreement: 

1. Failing to plead guilty pursuant to this agreement; 

2. Withdrawing the guilty plea or attempting to withdraw the 

guilty plea; 

3. Failing to fully accept responsibility as established in 

Section X, paragraph B, above; 

4. Failing to appear in court; 

5. Failing to abide by any lawful court order re.lated to 

this case; 

6. Appealing or collaterally attacking the sentence or 

conviction in violation of Section XI of this plea 

agreement; or 

7. Engaging in additional criminal conduct from the time of 

arrest until the time of sentencing. 

B. CONSEQUENCES OF BREACH 

In the event of a material breach by Defendant of this plea 

agreement, Defendant will not be able to enforce any of its provisions, 

and the USAO and SDCDAO will be ·relieved of all obligations under this 

plea agreement. For example, the USAO or SDCDAO may pursue any charges 

including those that were dJ.smissed, promised to be dismissed, or not 
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filed as a result of this agreement, Defendant agrees that any statute 
1 

of limitations relating to such charges is tolled as of the date of this 
2 agreement; Defendant also waives any double jeopardy defense to such 

3 charges. In addition, the USAO or SDCDAO may move to set aside the 

4 Defendant's guilty pleas. Defendant may not withdraw his guilty pleas 

based on the pursuit of remedies for their breach by the USAO or SDCDAO, 

XII 
6 

COMPLETE WAIVER OF FLEA-DISCUSSION EXCLUSION RIGHTS 
7 

In exchange for the concessions in this agreement, Defendant agrees 
8 that: (i) the stipulated factual basis statements in this agreement; 

9 (ii) any statements made by Defendant, under oath, at the guilty plea 

hearings in federal and state court; and (iii) any evidence derived from 

such statements, are admissible against Defendant in the prosecution's11 
case-in-chief and at any other stage of the proceedings in any

12 
prosecution of or action against Defendant on the current charges and/or 

13 
any other charges that the USAO and SDCDAO may pursue against Defendant. 

1 4 Additionally, Defendant knowingly, voluntarily, and intelligently waive 

any argument under the United States constitution, any statute, Federal 

l6 Rule of Evidence 410, Federal Rule of Criminal Procedure ll(f), and/or 

any other federal or California rule, that these statements or any
17 

evidence derived from these statements should be suppressed or are 
18 

inadmissible. The waiver of the aforementioned rights by Defendant is 
19 effective as soon as the parties sign this agreement, and is not 

contingent upon a federal or state court ultimately accepting 

21 Defendant's guilty pleas. 

XIV22 
ENTIRE AGREEMENT 

23 
The plea agreements in the state cases, which are incorporated 

24 
herein, together with the plea agreement in the federal case embody the 

entire agreement between the parties and supersede any other agreement, 

26 written or oral. 

27 II 
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read it. 

defense 

Defendant 

his counsel did not 

2L1 twn 
DATED 

<J/1/11 
DATED 

1 /~l11 
DATED 

1-( ~i) Lt~ 

xv 
MODIFICATION OF AGREEMENT MUST BE IN WRITING 

modification of this plea agreement shall be effective unless 

in writing signed by al.J. parties. 

XVI 

DEFENDANT AND COUNSEL FULLY UNDERSTAND AGREEMENT 

By signing this agreement, Defendant certifies that Defendant has 

Defendant has discussed the terms of this agreement with 

counsel and fully understands its meaning and effect. 

XVII 

DEFENDANT SATISFIED WITH COUNSEL 

has consulted with counsel and is satisfied with 

counsel's representation. This is Defendant's independent opinion, and 

advise Defendant about what to say in this regard. 

ROBERTS. BREWER, JR. 
United States Attorney 

\0i!vt:iedttv1._ 
VALERIE H. CHU 
Assistant U.S. Attorney 

Attorney 

Attorney 

HARLAND BRAUN 

~&~ 
27 DATED RICHARD A. MOSS 

28 Counsel for Defendant 

PJ.f:ct Aqr\~EHn(~nt 
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IN ADDITION TO THE FOREGOING PROVISIONS 'l'O WHICH I AGREE, I SWEAR UNDER 
l1ENAL'l'Y OF l1ERJURY 'l'l!.i\T THE FACTS IN 1'HE "FAC/»IS" SECTION ABOVE 

ARE TRUE, ti' 
DA~~Q/1;9 SCHLOM SCHMUEL 

Defendant 
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l;omp1a1nt amenoea u oy mternneauon to reaa:-:;-a,-:;:c:-::,,:::-,=;:-:c;;-::-r'i"7;;,:;=::::;-;:;-::-:-::::-c:-,-;::-===:--::--;=,--;-;:;==:-;-===cc-=-c-c=-­
D Amended D Amendment to D complaint filed D charging D adding D VC23103 (a) pursuant to VC23103.5 D VC22107, VC2165B(a), PC647(f) 
0 ~~.,---~-,~- as INFRACTION(S) pursuant to PC17(d)(2). 0 other:--,-,--,----,-~---· 
D Defendant advised of and waives the right to a separate and confllcMree attorney/ Interpreter for this court appearance. 
O Defendant duly arraigned and advised of the constitutional and statutory rights as Indicated on the reverse side of this minute order~. 
D Acknowledgment of adv!sal of constitutional rights signed and t!led. D Defendant has received copy of complaint. 
D Defendunt waives reading of complaint. 0 Deft. slates true name is-.,----,---,-,,---,,---,-,,~---,--,---, D on complaint L,____ line}
D DEFENDANT PLEADS NOT GUILTY and denies any priors/allegations/separate convictions alleged O on amended complaint. 
D Defendant WAIVES: D time for speedy trial O 10 day/60 day statutory time for prellmlnar; hearing D personal presence D per PC977 

D bail review D Jury trial O preliminary hearing .-· 
COUNSEL O MOTION FOR APPOINTED ATTORNEY □ Granted O Public Defender □ Alternate Public Defender □ Office of Assigned Counsel 
Ally:_--,c-,----,,------,-c---,-=--,--:.=,-.,-, D Re-appointed D Denied D Referred to Near Indigent Panel O Defendant to retain counsel. 
D Motion for self-~esentation is D granted Dianid. D Faretta/Lopez Waiver slgned & filed. D OAC appointed - legal runner/reasonable anclllary services. 
CONVICTION tl9,.Do(!j§ sworn and examined. Defendal)\ ~th<)r;lWSAIJY greviously ~nl,)r d)li"'!•
DEFENDANTPLEADS:)l'il.GUILTY □ NOCO TEST1o: J..:j_• "_k 7~(..2._l;'°Q Ul,H~..,l OVC23152(a)/ (b) 
0 Admits __________ separate conviction(s) alleged/~~-:;.,_-,.,-z._,-,_'f.r~---~---------- allegation{s)

I
Charges contained in amended/amendment to complaint. D VC23103(a) per.23103 5 D Ma lesser Included offense of 
On motion of Court~efendant remalningcount(s)~___is/arel§tsMISSED}\tlegation(s)/Prlor(s) remaining is/are STRICKEN □ FOJ \.-lvop 
Plea form executedandllied D People vs. West D BAC:. __ '1 
Court linds a knowing and intelllgent waiver of constitutional rights and facialasis for the plea. 
ADVISALS.._~n by the court: D Thi- PC666 q_py1- VC23593 Consequences of Convictlon-PC1016.5 
WAIVERS:.!>l. Arbuckle '&t81akely Cruz WHarvey ~Appeal Rights Non-Bio. Evidence Oisp?sal D Time for sentencing, see JUDGMENT MINUTES. 

D PC1210 D Drug C~ □-- accepte decfinGct. 
O Slipu!aled bindover. )29.. Case certified as a general Jurisdiction matter. D Complaint deemed the Information, 

'ldoefendant to provide DNA dalabase samples as directed by Sheriff or Probation Dept. (PC296). 
11/IOTION for _________________ by O People D Defendant D with D without objection D GRANTED D DENIED. 
PC1000 D Defendant's motion for D reinstatement to D PC1000 granted as to count(s) _...... for __ mo./yrs. D New term 
D Time. waived for sentencing O S.D. Rescue Mission Program O Enroll by c--=-.==-- Comply wlth all directions ot Assessor. 
0 $ _____ DEJ Admin Fees (PC1001.16(a) and PC1001.90) 0 Forthwith O By_ __~ 

77D Defendant has salfsfactorily COMPLETED the DEJ Program, previously antered plea to count(s) ____ set aside and charges dismissed. 
D Defendant has FAILED to satisfactorily perform In the DEJ Program. 0 PC1000 set aside and any unpaid fees pertaining thereto deleted. 
D Court makes a llndlng~fg ill to the charge(s) pied. D Time waived for sentencing, see JUDG~T. 
REFERRALS Report forthwith D by ________ lo D Assessment Unit Probation Department D Probation to interview. 

Nre-sentence D Mini Supplemental D Psych. D Limited re: Drugs/ Alcohol/ Domestic Vi lance/ Anger Management/ Reslilulion Report Ordered. 
D Pre-sen1ence report waived. D Court Collections O for payment of atlorney fees** $-,--.,..,....,..-c----c--- 0 Indigent as to altorney fees. 
0 The court finds !h. t/1.!1 _dE;f_en~ to repay the Counl of S~Die< o for the costs of court a ointe~J atlorne fees. 

~!EARING$ Seti ont. on motion of D People D Defense D Opposed D Unopposed D By Stipulation, _______ Statutory time Is WAIVED 
DEFENDANT S ORDERED TO APPEAR for □ -------=-,---,-~---o.n _____ a ___ in Dept. __
D Re: Attorney _______ at ____ In Dept ___ 0 Mollon/PC1538.5 _______ at ___ in Dept. __ 
D Arraignment _______ at ____ in Dept. ___ 0 Jury/ Court Trial _______ at ___ in Dept. __ 
D Ball Review _______ at ____ in Dept. ---~entencing __ • __ __ at ~~~In Dept 
D Readiness/DWT______ at ____ in Dept. --- rob. Hrg.& Sent u~ITTJ at t0:3DAin Dept. 1PJ2. 
D Prelim Exam · at ____ ln Dept.-~~ EJ D Drug Ct _______ at ___ in Dept. __ 

Time Eslimate: hr/day Days remaining: Set with case(s):
- . 

MENTAL HEALT~i D Proceedings suspended pursuant to PC1368. Mental competency examination on ______ at _____ by Forensic 
Psychiatry Clinic. Females - Room 1003, Central Division; Males - Central Detention Facility. Hearing on _____ at in Dept. ___ of the 
Central Division. 0 The Sheriff Is ordered to transport the defendant lo and from the examination and hearing stated above, 
OTl-lER D Verbal notice of license suspension (DL 310) signed. D Fingerprint form flied. 
D Book & Release- Report on ________ at ________ to D Central D Vista D Las Collnas Detention Facility. 

CUSTODY STATUS Defendant O REMANDED to cU$tody of Sheriff O wllhotJt ball O with ball set at /incrnasod to/ reducGd to$ _____ 
0 C1275,1 HOLD. 0 Pretrial Seivices Report Ordered re: SOR JO Refer to CPAC. 

REMAINS AT LIBERTY O RELEASED: 0 on bail previously posted. 0 after booking O DEJ QJI OR O SUPERVISED DR· comply with P.T.S. conditions 
ame terms and conditions D to an authorized representative of: _____________= __ on _______ at 

0 Release Conditions: 0 Attend __self-help mtgs. per week and submit proof at each court healing. D Abstain from alcohol. -----
□ Not use or possess any controlled substances without a valid prescription. D Not possess narcolic paraphernalia. 
□ Deft. waives 4111 amendment rights and agrees to submit person, vehicle, place of residence, property, persona! effects to search at any time with or without a 
warrant, and with or without reasonable cause, when required by a Proballon Officer or other law enforcement officer O imUJ revoked. D for the duration ot 
deferred entry of judgment. D Have no contact with/ stay away from:====c=--===-=-cc-----,,,,-,c,--,-~ D Protective Order issued. 
0 Previously ordered: Cl 4tt1 WAIVER O continues O deleted □ PROTECTIVE ORDER O continues O deleted. 
WARRANT D Arrest !J Bench D ____ Warrant ordered D Ball set at$,.,,.--,-~-,---,- D No Bail. 0 Counsel reports no contact with defendant. 
□ Schedule for hearing. D Mandatory appearance. D Night se,vice authorized. 0 Cash bail may be forfeited. D ISSUED ON: ::c;::-------
0 HOLD issuanca to DATE ABOVE, D Warrant previously ordered/issued D remains outstanding D rescinded D RECALLED ON~ ______
D Affidavit requested. Due by: __________ 

BAIL is O exonerated D forfeited O Fine from ball, refund balance, D Oeclaralion of non-collusion/ m•assumpllon of liability filed. 
D Bail forfeiture ls set aslde and bond is D reinstated D exonerated D upon payment of court cost $ _____ within 30 days O cost waived0 Bond II: ________ Bond$,____ Bond Co. ____________ 

Date: ST A TRU!OPY, Clerk of the Superior Court by Deputy 

Distribution by: -.SA.___ on .Q3_~i1j_to: Jail Deft All ~ Pro R&R Interpreter Acct. Assessment Other: __________ 

sosc cAM-150 I""· 11141 Ml Nbi.:J Y - PRE•DISPOSITION MINUTES 

https://PC1001.90


SUPE' 1 COURT OF CALIFORNIA, COUNTY OF S.' 'IEGO 

)(Central Division O East County Division D North County Division 0 South County Division Waivers: OTime D 4111 

PEOPLE vs._ SCl::l]'IUEL SCHLOMO STATUS: OR $ __________ □ BB D cs {YtNJ 
CASE# CD280827 PROS.// AEL',590l. DOS:091365 BKG# ___________CTS: __ days __ hrs. 

DATE: 08-06-l. 9 AT 01: 30 DEPT.# _16041NTERP: 0 Spanl~c;J s:;vor9 0 Oath on File 

~K,)14!\1_rrrr.i;; JUDGE: EUGt:MIA EYHERhB IDE REPO__ ·MMJ' J A. D STIP. FILED 1£.il&.tl.J...41Y,~A:~---
'c:crl'ii<:_<.)~ CSR ff I COUNTER#:.,_,.'-'-"•""'------

Case called for D FTA O Arraignment D Ball Review Readiness/DWT Jury Trial D Preliminary Examination Motion 
0 DEJ -----~-- D Full O Limited Protective Order Expires: ~"""__Protected Party: _______________ 
D Warrant Ordered/Issued on D Held to today D Cleared D Outstanding. D Bail Bond# $ forfeited. 
CASE TRANSFERRED TO DEPT. ___ TIME ESTIMATE: __ 
Complaint amended D by interlineat\on lo read:
D Amended D Amendment to D complaint file.~d,-O""'c"h-a-rg""in-g-□""a-d;-;d:-in-g"□=v:::c"'2a:::1::o::-a-:-{a")_p_ur-su_a_n7 =v-c:c=2"27tt:-o-v'"c"'2=3:-:1"oa-=-.-:::s-;□ 10=7=--,;-;v=c"21:-6c:5-:::8:-{a:-),-:::Pc:C:-6-47-(f:-)--
O ~----~--•s INFRACTION(SJ pursuant to PC17(d)(2). □ other:-=~-~~=---·
D Defendant advised of and waives the right to a separate and confllcHree attorney/ Interpreter for this court appearance.
D Defendant duly arraigned and advised of the constitution al and statutory rights as Indicated on the reverse side of this minute order.,
O Acknowledgment of advlsal of constitutional rights signed and filed. D Defendant has received copy ot complaint. 
D Defendant waives reading of complaint. 0 Deft. states true name Is -,---.,---ccc----cc---c,=-----c--c---c D on complaint L--·- line]
O DEFENDANT PLEADS NOT GUilTY and denies anurtors/allegations/separate convictions alleged D on amended compfalnt.
O Defendant WAIVES: D time for speedy trial [J 1Oday/60 day statutory time for preliminary hearing D personal presence D per PC977 

D bait review D Jury trial O preliminary hearing ' 
COUNSEL O MOTION FOR APPOINTED ATTORNEY O Granted O Public Defender O Alternate Public Defender O Office of Assigned Counsel 
Atty: --------,----=~--:-=-c-. D Re-appointed D Denied O Referred to Near Indigent Panel D Defendanl to retain counsel. 
D Motion for selftelfesentation is O granted Dienld. D Faretta/Lopez Waiver signed & filed. 0 OAC appointed~ legal runner/reasonable ancillary seivices. 
CONVICTION \19,.0~ sworn and examined. Defenda~~th,ws~rJY ~eviously pn!rjld_.l?I . 
DEFENDANT PLEADS: J!Si.GUILTY ONO CO TEST to: - I'..<-:?!)' OJ.__!'.).,..,,}.~l-.6_,_,,________ 0 VC23152(a) I (b) 
D Admits---~--~~- separate conv[ction(s) alleged/ e7c--c,,,..""',,",."';:_f'S-'1~c---,-,-:--,--.,,.---:----- allegation(s) 

l
harges contained in amended/amendment to complaint. D VC23103(a) per~2..'<103 5 .0 ~s a lesser Included offense of 
n motion of Court~efendant remaining count(s),cc---- is/arel!isM1isEQ.}11egation(s)/Prlor(s) remaining ls/are STRICKEN O FOJ 'lnlvoP 
lea form executed and hied D People vs. West O BAC~ •__ '1 
ourt finds a knowing and intelligent waiver of constiluUonal rights and factialasis for the plea. 
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i 
I 

Fl 

·, 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, Case No. 19CR ,'.gQQ{p _£,fK 
Plaintiff, 

v. INFORMATION 

Title 18, United States Code, 
SCHLOMO SCHMUEL, Section 371 - Conspiracy; and Title 

28, u.s.c., § 2461(c) - Criminal 
Defendant. ForfeitureII------=-"'-'=-'-"-"-'--------' 

The United States charges: 

COUNT 1 
CONSPIRACY 

18 u.s.c. § 371 
From at least 2014 through 2015, within the Southern District of 

California and elsewhere, defendant SCHLOMO SCHMUEL knowingly and 

intentionally conspired with JULIAN GARCIA, BORIS DP...DIOMOV, STEVEN 

RIGLER, JOSE CANDELARIO, and others to commit the offenses of Honest 

Services Mail Fraud, in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1341 and 1346, and 

Health Care Fraud, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1347. In furtherance of 

the conspiracy and in order to effect the objec_ts thereof, Defendant 

committed and caused the commission of the following overt acts within 

the Southern District of Cali;Eornia and elsewhere: 

On or about May 15, 2015, Defendant SCHLOMO SCHMUEL issued two 

checks, one from "Innovative Orthopedic Solution," and one from "Sunset 

lunbulatory Surgical Center, Inc.," for $12,350.00 each, to "Memphis 

https://12,350.00
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Media," a company associated with JULIAN GARCIA, as compensation for 

referring Workers' Compensation patients to defendant SCHMUEL for a 

"hot / cold pack." 

On or about May 24, 2015, Defendant SCHMUEL through Diamond 

Orthopedic Services issued a bill to ESIS insurance company for $5,950 

for Durable Medical Equipment provided to Mayra P. 

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 371. 

FORFEITURE ALLEGATION 

Upon conviction of the felony offense alleged in this Information 

set forth above and pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 98l(a) (1) (C), 28 u.s.c. 

§ 2461(c), and Federal Rule of Criminal Procedure 32.2, defendant 

STEPHEN STEPANIUK shall forfeit to the United States any property, real 

or personal, which constitutes or was derived from proceeds traceable 

to such violation. 

If any of the above-described forfeited property, as a result of 

any act or omission of SCHLOMO SCHMUEL cannot be located upon the 

exercise of due diligence; has been transferred or sold to, or deposited 

with, a third person; has been placed beyond the jurisdiction of the 

Court; has been substantially diminished in value; or has been commingled 

with other property which cannot be subdivided without difficulty, it 

is the intent of the United States, pursuant to 21 u.s.c. § 853(p), made 

applicable herein by 28 u.s,c. § 2461(c), to seek forfeiture of any 

other property of SCHLOMO SCHMUEL up to the value of the property subject 

to forfeiture. 

ROBERTS. BREWER, JR. 
United States At_t.orney 

DATED: Ai~ b,'Zo\C\_ \@&1&{ 'frd~-"-
VALERIE H. CHU 
Assistant U.S. Attorney 
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ROBERTS. BREWER, JR. 
United States Attorney 
VALERIE H, CHU 
Assistant United States Attorney 
California Bar No. 241709 
Federal Office Building 
880 Front Street, Room 6293 
San Diego, California 92101-8893 

Attorneys for United States of America 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, 

Plaintiff, 
PLE:A AGREEME:NT 

SCHLOMO SCHMUEL, 

Defendant. 

v. 

IT IS HEREBY AGREED between the plaintiff, UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, 

through its counsel, Robert L. Brewer, Jr., United States Attorney, and 

Valerie H. Chu, Assistant United States Attorney, and defendant SCHLOMO 

SCHMUEL, with the advice and consent of Richard Moss and Harland Braun, 

counsel for Defendant, as follows: 

II 
II 
II 
II 
II 
II 
II 
II 
II 
II 
II 

Plea Agreement 19CR 
Def. Initials ~~-



5 

10 

15 

20 

25 

1 

2 

3 

4 

6 

7 

8 

9 

11 

12 

13 

14 

16 

17 

18 

19 

21 

22 

23 

24 

26 

27 

28 

I 

THE PLEA 

1. This agreement is intended to bind the following parties: 

a, Defendant SCHLOMO SCHMUEL; 

b. The United States Attorney's Office ("OSAO"); and 

c. The San Diego County District Attorney's Office ("SDCDAO") as 

to Criminal Case Number CD280827 currently pending in the 

Superior Court of California, County of San Diego (hereinafter 

2. This plea agreement cannot bind any other federal, state or 

local prosecuting, administrative, or regulatory authorities, although 

the USAO or SDCDAO will bring this plea agreement to the attention of 

other authorities if requested by Defendant. 

3. With regards to the federal case, Defendant agrees to waive 

indictment and plead guilty to an Information charging Conspiracy to 

Commit Honest Services Mail Fraud and Health Care Fraud, in violation 

of 18 u.s.c. § 371. 

4. In exchange for Defendant's guilty plea in the federal case, 

the USAO agrees to: not prosecute Defendant for the conduct set forth 

in the Factual Basis unless Defendant breaches the plea agreem,mt or any 

of the guilty pleas entered pursuant to this plea agreement are set 

aside for any reason. Defendant expressly wai,res all constitutional and 

statutory defenses to the initiation of any charges not brought pursuant 

to this agreement. 

5. With regards to the state case, . defendant SCHLOMO SCHMUEL 

agrees to plead guilty to the following charges in the following case: 

a, Case Number CD280827, People v. Schlomo Schmuel: Count 2 and 

Count 5: Unlawfully Conceal and Event Affecting an Insurance 

Claim in violation of California Penal Code Section 550(b) (3) 

b. The combined maximum state penalty for both counts is 6 years 

state prison and a fine of$ $100,000. 

6. Pursuant to California Labor Code 139. 21 (e) (1), Defendant 

Schlomo Schmuel admits that he owns 100% of Diamond Orthopedic Services, 

z
Plea .l.\~_p:eemt::nt: 19CR 
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LLC and agrees to the dismissal of all liens and forfeiture of sums 

claimed therein, and waiver of any right to seek collection of sums 

claimed in such liens in the California Workers' Compensation System, 

regarding any liens which arise from bills with the following 

characteristics: (1) the referring provider (Box 17 on CMS 1500) was 

Steven J, Rigler, DC; Jose Candelario DC (AKA Joserodel. Zavala 

Candelario, DC); Dirk H, Kancilia, DC; or Phong H. Tran, MD; (2) the 

service billed for was CPT code E0217 (Water circuiating heat pad with 

pump); or CPT code L0621 (SIO flex pelvic/sacral brace); and (3) the 

provider was Diamond Orthopedic Services, LLC (TIN 46-1687642, NPI 

1174860522) 1 as these liens arise from fraud. 

7. In exchange for Defendant's plea to the above-referenced count 

in the state case, the SDCDAO agrees to dismis_s the remaining counts 

against him with a waiver pursuant to People v. Harvey, 25 Cal,3d 754 

(1979). The SDCDAO further agrees to recommend that Defendant be 

sentenced on the state case to no more than 4 years state prison, to 

be served concurrently with his sentence in the federal case, that his 

state sentence may be served in federal custody, that he receive the 

standard restitution fine (s), and that the court order full restitution 

if applicable pursuant to California law. The ultimate state case 

sentencing decision is within the sole discretion of the state court 

judge, A copy of the written and signed plea agreement in the state 

case is incorporated herein. 

:er 

NATURE OF THE OFFENSE 

A, FEDERAL CASE: ELEMENTS EXPLAINED 

Defendant understands that the offense to which he is pleading 

guilty has the following elements: 

Conspiracy (18 U,S.C. § 371] 

1. · There was an agreement between two or more persons to 

commit Honest Services Mail Fraud and Health Care Fraud; 

3 
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2. The defendant entered into the agreement knowing of at 

least one of its objects and intending to help accomplish 

it; and 

3. One of the co-conspirators committed at least one overt 

act in furtherance of the conspiracy, 

Honest Services Mail Fraud (18 U.S.C. § 1341 and 1346] 

1. The defendant devised or knowingly participated in a 

scheme to deprive a victim of his or her right to a 

doctor's honest services; 

2. The scheme consisted of soliciting and facilitating the 

receipt of kickback payments from suppliers of health­

care services and products to be paid to the doctor in 

exchange for referrals; 

3. The doctor, as a healthcare professional, owed a 

fiduciary duty to the victim; 

4. The defendant acted with the intent to defraud by 

depriving the victim of his or her right to the doctor's 

honest services; 

5. The defendant's act was material; that is, it had a 

natural tendency to influence, or was capable of 

influencing, a person's acts; and 

6. The defendant used, or caused someone to use, the mails 

to carry out or to attempt to carry out the scheme or 

plan. 

Heath Care Fraud [18 U.S.C. § 1347] 

1. The defendant knowingly executed, or attempted to 

execute, a scheme or artifice to defraud a health-care 

benefit program, or to obtain money or property owned 

by, or under the custody or control of, a health-care 

benefit program by means of false or fraudulent 

pretenses, representations, or promises. 

2. The false or fraudulent pretenses, representations, or 

promises related to a material fact. 

4 
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3. The defendant acted willfully and intended to defraud. 

4. The defendant did so in connection with the delivery of 

or payment for health-care benefits, items, or services. 

B. FEDERAL CASE FACTUAL BASIS: ELEMENTS UNDERSTOOD AND ADMITTED 

Defendant has fully discussed the facts of the federal case and the 

state cases with defense counsel. Defendant has committed each of the 

elements of Conspiracy to Commit Honest Services Mail Fraud and Health 

Care Fraud, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 371 1 and admits that there is a 

factual basis for the guilty plea in the federal case. Specifically, 

Defendant admits: 

1. Defendant SCHLOMO SCHMUEL was a licensed doctor of pediatric 

medicine in the state of California from 1992 to 2019. He owned and 

operated various business, including Diamond Orthopedics Services, LLC, 

Schlomo Schmuel, D.P.M., Inc., Innovative Orthopedic Solution, Sunset 

Ambulatory surgical Center, and Sunset Foot Clinic corporation, among 

others (together, "Schmuel Entities"), 

2. From at least 2014 through 2015, within the Southern District 

of California and elsewhere, defendant SCHLOMO SCHMUEL knowingly and 

intentionally conspired with JULIAN GARCIA, BORIS DADIOMOV, STEVEN 

RIGLER, JOSE CANDELARIO, and others to commit the offenses of Honest 

Services Mail Fraud, in violation of 18 u.s.c. §§ 1341 and 1346, and 

Health Care Fraud, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1347. It was the goal 

of the conspiracy to fraudulently obtain money from health care benefit 

programs by submitting claims for medical goods and services that were 

generated through a secret pattern of bribes to physicians (and those 

acting with them and on their behalf), to induce the physicians to refer 

patients for those services, and to refer to particular providers, in 
violation of the physicians' fiduciary duty to their patients. 

3. It was a further part of the conspiracy that the co-
conspirators concealed from patients, and intended to cause the 

physicians to conceal from patients, the kickback and bribe payments 

made to physicians for referring patients to companies owned by the co-

5I? Jea Aq reem..~n t. 19CR ·-=~ Def. Initials _.s;;_ 
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conspirators or in which they had an interest, in violation of the 

physicians' fiduciary duty to their patients. 

4. It was a further part of the conspiracy that the co-

conspirators utilized the mails as an essential part of their fraudulent 

scheme, including by mailing bills to insurance carriers. 

5. It was a further part of the conspiracy that co-conspirators 

billed, and caused insurers to bill, for services provided to patients 

that the co-conspirators had procured by paying bribes and kickbacks. 

6. It was a further part of the conspiracy that the co-

conspirators concealed from insurers and patients the material fact of 

the kickback arrangements, which were in violation of California state 

law, that led to the referrals. 

7. Knowing that paying a per-patient referral fee was unlawful, 

Defendant offered to pay and paid $100 for each referral of a certain 

type of durable medical equipment ("DME"), called a "hot/cold pack," 

that his co-conspirators could induce physicians to refer to Schmuel 

Entities. During the period 2014 through 2015, defendant SCHLOMO SCHMDEL 

knowingly paid GARCIA more than $372,000 in these unlawful, per-patient 

referral fees. 

8. Defendant agrees that he intentionally engaged in or caused 

conduct constituting sophisticated means, including by, in an effort to 

conceal the corrupt payments for patient referrals, directing payments 

through intermediaries, including nmarketing" companies, and executing 

"marketing" agreements with those intermediaries, when in reality the 

payments were unlawful per-patient referral fees. Further, Defendant 

SCHLOMO SCHMOEL attempted to conceal these unlawful per-patient 

referral fees by making payments to GARCIA from corporations such as 

Sunset Ambulatory Surgical Center, Inc., Innovative Orthopedic 

Solution, and Sunset Foot Clinic Corporation, all of which had no direct 

connection to Diamond Orthopedics Services, LLC and/or had no direct 

connection to providing patients with hot/cold packs. Defendant SCHLOMO 

SCHMOEL frequently divided the per-patient referral fees among his 

corporations to conceal the fact the payments were made on a per-patient 

6 
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referral basis, even though he provided the payments to GARCIA on the 

same day. 

9. Defendant agrees that his offense involved abuse of a position 

of trust with respect to patients. 

10, Defendant agrees that the California· Workers' Compensation 

Syst.em is a government health care program, in that it is a plan or 

program that provides health benefits, which is funded directly, in 

whole or in part, by federal or state government. 

11. Using the manners and means described above, Defendant and 

his co-conspirators submitted and caused to be submitted claims valued 

at between $3.5 million and $9.5 million for hot/cold packs procured 

through the payment of bribes and kickbacks. 

12. Defendant agrees that as an overt act of his conspiracy, on 

or about May 15, 2015, Defendant SCHLOMO SCHMUEL issued two checks, one 

from "Innovative Orthopedic Solution," and one from "Sunset Ambulatory 

surgical Center, Inc.," for $12,350.00 each, to "Memphis Media," a 

company associated with JULIAN GARCIA, as compensation for referring 

Workers' Compensation patients to defendant SCHMOEL for a "hot / cold 

pack." 

13. Defendant agrees that as an overt act of his conspiracy, on 

or about May 24, 2015, Defendant SCHMUEL through Diamond Orthopedic 

Services issued a bill to ESIS insurance company for $5,950 for Durable 

Medical E<:juipment provided to Mayra P. 

C. STATE CASE:: ELEMENTS EXPLAINED 

Defendant understands that the offenses to which he is pleading 

guilty in the state cases have the following elements: 

Unlawfully Conceal an Event Affecting an Insurance Claim 

[California Penal Code, Section 550(b) (3)] 

1. Defendant did, knowingly assist, or conspire with 

another, to conceal or fail to disclose the occurrence 

of an event; 

7 
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2. That affects any person's right or entitlement to an 

insurance benefit or payment, or amount of benefit or 

payment; and 

3. With the specific intent to defraud. 

D, STATE CASES FACTUAL BASES: ELEMENTS UNDERSTOOD AND ADMITTED 

Defendant has fully discussed the facts of the state case with his 

defense counsel. Defendant has committed each cf the elements of 

unlawfully concealing an event affecting an insurance claim, in 

violation of California Penal Code, section 550(b) (3) and admits the 

following facts are true and undisputed: 

As to Count 2 of Case Number CD280827, California Penal Code 

Section 550(b) (3): On or about June 15, 2015, Defendant Schlomo Schmuel 

did aid and abet and conspire with Julian Garcia, Alexander Kiev 

Martinez and Steven Rigler to fraudulently submit a bill to Liberty 

Mutual Insurance Company for $5,000 for a "Hot Cold Pack" (CPT Code 

E0217) on a .California Workers' Compensation patient (Juan C.). 

Defendant Schmuel made a $100 kickback payment to Julian Garcia for the 

referral of Juan C., a patient of Steven Rigler, D.C. In exchange for 

Defendant Sahmuel's $100 kickback payment, Defendant Schmuel received 

a Rigler prescription for a "Hot Cold Pack" for patient Juan C. 

Defendant Schmuel provided a "Hot Cold Pack" to Juan C. Defendant 

Schmuel billed Liberty Mutual Insurance Company $5000 for filling the 
, .

prescription. Defendant Schmuel did not disclose to, and actively 

concealed from, Liberty Mutual Insurance Company that Defendant Schmuel 

paid an illegal kickback for the referral of patient Juan c. 's "Hot 

cold Pack" prescription, and did so with the intent to defraud. Had 

Liberty Mutual Insurance Company known of the illegal kickback, Liberty 

Mutual Insurance Company would not have paid anything on the bill, as 

it would have been legally void. 

As to Count 5, of Case Number CD280827: On or about and between 

June 1, 2015, and June 30, 2015, Defendant Schlomo Schmuel did aid and 

abet and conspire with Julian Garcia, Alexander Kiev Martinez and Steven 

Rigler to fraudulently submit a bill to Insurance Company of the West 

8 
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for $5,000 for a "Hot Cold Pack" (CPT Code E02l7) on California Workers' 

Compensation patient (Esteban C.) . Defendant Schmuel made a $100 

kickback payment to Julian Garcia for the referral of Esteban c., a 

patient of Steven Rigler, D.C. In exchange for Defendant Schmuel's $100 

kickback payment; Defendant Schmuel received a Rigler prescription for 

a "Hot Cold Pack" for patient Esteban C, Defendant Schmuel provided 

a "Hot Cold Pack" to Esteban C. Defendant Schmuel billed Insurance 

Company of the West $5000 for filling the prescription. Defendant 

Schmuel did not disclose to, and actively concealed from, Insurance 

Company of the West that Defendant Schmuel paid an illegal kickback for 

the referral of patient Esteban C, 1 s "Hot Cold Pack" prescription, and 

did so with the intent to defraud. Had Insurance Company of the West 

known of the illegal kickback, Insurance Company of the ~lest would not 

have paid anything on the bill, as it would have been legally void. 

!II 

PENl\LT:tES 

A. FEDERAL CASE 

Defendant understands that Conspiracy, in violation of 18 u.s.c. 
§371, to which Defendant is pleading guilty in the federal case carries 

the following penal ties: 

A. a maximum 5 years in prison; 

B. a maximum $250 1 000 fine, or twice the gross gain or loss 

derived from the offense; 

C. a mandatory special assessment of $100 per count; and 

D, a term of supervised release of 3 years. Defendant understands 

that failure to comply with any of the conditions of supervised 

release may result in revocation of supervised release, 

requiring defendant to serve in prison, upon any such 

revocation, all or part of the statutory maximum term of 

supervised release for the offense that resulted in such term 

of supervised release. 

E. an order from the Court pursuant to 18 O.S.C. § 3663A that 

Defendant make mandatory restitution to the victims of the 

9
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offense of conviction, or the estate (s) of the victims (s). 

Defendant understands that the Court shall also order, if 

agreed to by the parties in this plea agreement, restitution 

to persons other than the victims of the offense of conviction. 

F. an order of forfeiture of any property, real or personal, 

which constitutes or is derived from proceeds traceable to the 

offense. 

IV 

DEFENDANT'S WAIVER OF TRIAL RIGHTS IN FEDERAL C.l\.SE 

Defendant understands that this guilty plea waives the right to: 

A. Continue to plead not guilty and require the Government to 

prove the elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt; 

B. A speedy and public trial by jury; 

C. The assistance of counsel at all stages of trial; 

D, Confront and cross-examine adverse witnesses; 

E. Testify and present evidence and to have witnesses testify 

on behalf of defendant; and, 

F. Not testify or have any adverse inferences drawn from the 

failure to testify. 

Defendant knowingly and voluntarily waives any rights and defenses 

Defendant may have under the Excessive Fines Clause of the Eighth 

Amendment to the United States Constitution to the forfeiture of property 

in this proceeding or any related civil proceeding. 

V 

DEFEND.!\NT ACKNOWLEDGES NO PRETRIAL RIGHT TO BE 

PROVIDED WITH IMPEACHMENT AND l\Fl!'IRMATIVE DEFENSE INFORMATION' 

The USAO and SDCDAO represent that any information establishing the 

factual innocence of Defendant known to the undersigned prosecutors in 

this case has been turned over to defendant. The USAO and SDCDAO will 

continue to provide such information establishing the factual innocence 

of defendant. 

Defendant understands that if this case proceeded to trial, the 

USAO and SDCDAO would be required to provide impeachment information 

10 
19CR 

Def. Initials ~s;:~.s,-



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

J. 5 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

relating to any informants or other witnesses. In addition, if defendant 

raised an affirmative defense, the USAO and SDCDAO would be required to 

provide information in its possession that supports such a defense. 

Defendant acknowledges, however, that by pleading guilty, Defendant will 

not be provided this information, if any, and Defendant also waives the 

right to this information. Finally, Defendant agrees not to attempt to 

withdraw the guilty plea or to file a collateral attack based on the 

existence of this information. 

VI 

OEli'ENDAN'l.''S REPRESENTATION THAT GOI~TY 

F~AS ARE I\'.NOWING AND VOLUNTARY 

Defendant represents that: 

A. Defendant has had a full opportunity to dJ.scuss all the facts 

and circumstances of this case with defense counsel and has a 

clear understanding of the charges and the consequences of 

this plea. Defendant understands that, by pleading guilty, 

Defendant may be giving up, and rendered ineligible to 

receive, valuable government benefits and civic rights, such 

as the right to vote, the right to possess a firearm, the 

right to hold office, and the right to serve on a jury. 

Defendant further understands that the conviction in this case 

may subject Defendant to various collateral consequences, 

including but not limited to deportation, removal or other 

adverse immigration consequences; revocation of. probation, 

parole, or supervised release in another case; debarment from 

government contracting; and suspension or revocation of a 

professional license, as well as civil and administrative 

liability, none of which will serve as grounds to withdraw 

Defendant's guilty plea. 

B. No one has made any promises or offered any rewards in 

return for this guilty plea, other than those contained in 

this agreement or otherwise disclosed to the Court. 
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C. No one has threatened Defendant or Defendant's family to 

induce this guilty plea. 

D. Defendant is pleading guilty because in truth and in fact 

Defendant is guilty and for no other reason. 

VII 

APPLICABILITY OF SENTENCING GUIDELINES 

Defendant understands the sentence imposed will be based on the 

factors set forth in 18 U.S.C. § 3553(a). Defendant understands further 

that in imposing the sentence, the sentencing judge must consult the 

United States Sentencing Guidelines (Guidelines) and take them into 

account. Defendant has discussed the Guidelines with defense counsel 

and understands that the Guidelines are only advisory, not mandatory, 

and the Court may impose a sentence more severe or less severe than 

otherwise applicable under the Guidelines, up to the maximum in the 

statute of conviction. Defendant understands further that the sentence 

cannot be determined until a presentence report has been prepared by the 

U.S. Probation Office and both defense counsel and the USAO have had an 

opportunity to review and challenge the presentence report. Nothing iri 

this plea agreement shall be construed as limiting the USAO's duty to 

provide complete and accurate facts to the district court and the U.S. 

Probation Office. 

VIII 

SENTENCE IS WITHIN SOLE PISCRETION OF JUDGE 

This plea agreement is made pursuant to Federal Rule of Criminal 

Procedure 11 (c) (1) (B). Defendant understands that the sentence is 

within the sole discretion of the sentencing judge. The USAO has not 

made and will not make any representation as to what sentence Defendant 

will receive. Defendant understands that the sentencing judge may impose 

the maximum sentence provided by statute, and is also aware that any 

estimate of the probable sentence by defense counsel is a prediction, 

not a promise, and is not binding on the Court. Likewise, the 

recommendation made by the USAO is not binding on the Court, and it is 

uncertain at this time what Defendant's sentence will be. Defendant 
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also has been advised and understands that if the sentencing judge does 

not follow any of the parties' sentencing recommendations, Defendant 

nevertheless has no right to withdraw his pleas. 

IX 

PARTIES' SENTENCING RECOMMENDATIONS 

A. SENTENCING GUIDELINE CALCULATIONS 

Although the parties understand that the Guidelines are only 

advisory and just one of the factors the Cour.t will consider under 18 

u.s.c. § 3553 (a) in imposing a sentence, the parties will jointly 

recommend the following Base Offense Level, Specific Offense 

Characteristics, Adjustments and Departures: 

1. Base Offense Level [§ 2B1.1] 6 

2. Intended loss $3.5 mill to $9.5 mill +18 

[§ 2Bl. l (b) (1) (H) J 

3' Loss of > $1 mill to Govt health care program +2 
4. Sophisticated Means [§ 2Bl .1 (b) (10) (C)] +2 

5, Abuse of Position of Trust [§ 3B1.3] +2 
6. Acceptance of Responsibility [§ 3El .1] -3 

B. ACCEPTANCE OF RESPONSIBILITY 

Notwithstanding paragraph A above, the USAO will not be obligated 

to recommend any adjustment for Acceptance of Responsibility under 

U. S, S. G. §§ 31::1. l or 8C2. 5 if Defendant engages in conduct inconsistent 
,

with acceptance of responsibility including, but not limited to, the 

following: 

1. Fails to truthfully admit a complete factual basis as 

stated in the plea at the time the plea is entered, or 

falsely denies, or makes a statement inconsistent 

with, the factual basis set forth in ·this agreement; 

2. Falsely denies prior criminal conduct or convictions; 

3. Is untruthful with the Government, the Court or 

probation officer; 

4. Materially breaches this plea agreement in any way; or 

13 
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5. Contests or assists any third party in contesting the 

forfeiture of property (ies) seized in connection with 

this case, and any property (ies) to which the 

defendant has agreed to forfeit as set forth in the 

attached forfeiture addendum. 

C, FURTHER ADJUSTMENTS AND SENTENCE REDUCTIONS 
INCLUDING THOSE UNDER 18 U.S.C, § 3553 

The parties agree that Defendant may request or recommend 

additional downward adjustments, departures, including criminal history 

departures under USSG § 4A1. 3, or sentence reductions under 18 u, s. c. 

§ 3553. The USAO may oppose any downward adjustments, departures and 

sentence reductions not set forth in Section X, paragraph A above. 

D. NO AGREEMENT AS TO CRIMINAL HISTORY CATEGORY 

The parties have no agreement as to Defendant's Criminal History 

Category. 

E. "FAC'fUAL BASIS" AND "RELEVANT CONDUCT" INFORMATION 

The parties agree that the facts in the "factual basis" sections 

of this agreement as to both the federal case and the state cases are 

true, and may be considered as "relevant conduct" under USSG § lBl. 3 and 

as the nature and circumstances of the offense under 18 U. s. c. § 

3553 (a) (1), 

F. PARTIES' RECOMMENDATIONS REGARDING CUSTODY 

The parties agree that the USAO will recommend the statutory 

maximum, 60 months, which is lower than the advisory Guidelines range, 

and accordingly, is the Guidelines sentence. 

G. SPECIAL ASSESSMENT/FINE/RESTITUTION/FORFEITURE 

1. Special Assessment 

The parties will jointly recommend that Defendant pay a special. 

assessment in the amount of $100. 00 per count of conviction in the 

federal case to be paid forthwith at the time of sentencing. The special 

assessments shall be paid through the office of the Clerk of the District 

Court by bank or cashier's check or money order made payable to the 

"Clerk, United States District Court." 
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2. Restitution 

The parties do not recommend imposition of a restitution order in 

the federal case in light of the difficulty of determining the 

individualized loss amounts suffered by each victim due to Defendant's 

conduct, see 18 USC § 3553A(c) (3) (B), and in the interest of judicial 

efficiency to avoid duplication of restitution proceedings in state 

court. Defendant understands that restitution may be ordered in ·the 

state case pursuant to Defendant's guilty pleas in that matter. 

3. 

The parties will jointly recommend that Defendant be ordered to pay 

a fine of $150,000. 

4. Forfeiture 

Defendant Schlomo Schmuel agrees to the dismissal of all liens and 

forfeiture of sums claimed therein as set forth at paragraph (I) (6), 

supra. 

H. SUPERVISED RELEASE 

If the Court imposes a term of supervised release, the parties 

agree that Defendant will not seek to reduce or terminate early the term 

of supervised release until Defendant has served at least 2/3 of the 

term. 

X 

DEFENDANT WAIVES Al/PEAL AND COLLATERAL ATTACK 

A, WAIVER OF RIGHT TO APPEAL CONVICTION 

In exchange for the concessions by the USAO and SDCDAO in the 

federal and state cases in this plea agreement, Defendant waives, to the 

full extent of the law, any right to appeal the convictions and sentence 

in either the federal or state cases. 

B. WAIVER OF RIGHT TO COLLATERAL ATTACK 

Defendant waives, to the full extent of the law, any right to 

collaterally attack the conviction and/or sentence, except for a 

post-conviction collateral attack based on a claim of ineffective 

assistance of counsel. 

/ / 
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C. OBJECTIONS TO UNITED STATES' RECOMMENDATION 

If Defendant believes the recommendation by the USAO or SDCDAO is 

not in accord with this plea agreement, Defendant will object at the 

time of sentencing; otherwise the abjection will be deemed waived. 

XI 

BREACH 011' THE PLEA AGREEMENT 

A. MATERIAL BREACH OF PLEA AGREEMENT 

Defendant acknowledges, understands, and agrees that if Defendant 

violate or fail to perform any of Defendant's obligations under this 

agreement, such violation or failure to perform will constitute a 

material breach of this agreement. 

Defendant acknowledges, understands, and agrees further that the 

following non-exhaustive. list of conduct. by Defendant unquestionably 

constitutes a material breach of this plea agreement: 

1. Failing to plead guilty pursuant to this agreement; 

2. Withdrawing the guilty plea or attempting to withdraw the 

guilty plea; 

3. Failing to fully accept responsibility as established in 

Section X, paragraph B, above; 

4. Failing to appear in court; 

5. Failing to abide by any lawful court order related to 

this case; 

6. Appealing or collaterally attacking the sentence or 

conviction in violation of Section XI of this plea 

agreement; or 

7. Engaging in additional criminal conduct from the time of 

arrest until the time of sentencing. 

B. CONSEQUENCES OF BREACH 

In the event of a material breach by Defendant of this plea 

agreement, Defendant will not be able to enforce any of its provisions, 

and the USAO and SDCDAO will be ·relieved of all obligations under this 

plea agreement. For example, the USAO or SDCDAO may pursue any charges 

including those that were dismissed, promised to be dismissed, or not 
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filed as a result of this agreement. Defendant agrees that any statute 

of limitations relating to such charges is tolled as of the date of this 

agreement; Defendant also waives any double jeopardy defense to such 

charges. In addition, the USAO or SDCDAO may move to set aside the 

Defendant's guilty pleas. Defendant may not withdraw his guilty pleas 

based on the pursuit of remedies for their breach by the USAO or SDCDAO. 

XII 

COMPLETE WAIVER OF FLEA-DISCUSSION EXCLUSION RIGHTS 

In exchange for the concessions in this agreement, Defendant agrees 

that: (i) the stipulated factual basis statements in this agreement; 

(ii) any statements made by Defendant, under oath, at the guUty plea 

hearings in federal and state court; and (iii) any evidence derived from 

such statements, are admissible against Defendant in the prosecution's 

case-in-chief and at any other stage of the proceedings in any 

prosecution of or action against Defendant on the current charges and/or 

any other charges that the USAO and SDCDAO may pursue against Defendant. 

Additionally, Defendant knowingly, voluntarily, and intelligently waive 

any argument under the United States Constitution, any statute, Federal 

Rule of Evidence 410, Federal Rule of Criminal Procedure ll(f), and/or 

any other federal or California rule, that these statements or any 

evidence derived from these statements should be suppressed or are 

inadmissible. The waiver of the aforementioned rights by Defendant is 

effective as soon as the parties sign this agreement, and is not 

contingent upon a federal or state court ultimately accepting 

Defendant's guilty pleas. 

XIV 

ENTIRE AGREEMENT 

The plea agreements in the state cases, which are incorporated 

herein, together with the plea agreement in the federal case embody the 

entire agreement between the parties and supersede any other agreement, 

written or oral. 

II 

II 
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xv 
MODIFICATION OF AGREEMENT MUST BE IN WRITING 

No modification of this plea agreement shall be effective unless 

in writing signed by all parties. 

XVI 

DEFENDANT AND COUNSEL FULLY UNDERSTAND AGREEMENT 

By signing this agreement, Defendant certifies that Defendant has 

read it. Defendant has discussed the terms of this agreement with 

defense counsel and fully understands its meaning and effect. 

XVII 

DEFENDANT SATISFIED WITH COUNSEL 

Defendant has consulted with counsel and is satisfied with 

counsel's representation. This is Defendant's independent opinion, and 

his counsel did not advise Defendant about what to say in this regard. 

ROBERTS. BREWER, JR. 
United States Attorney 

2/1 /2,,un \@J!vviidrt~
DATED• I VALERIE H, CHU 

Assistant U.S. Attorney 

Attorney<J/r/ Ii 
DATED 

District Attorney 

1/~l11 
DATED HARLAND BRAUN 

Counsel for Defendant 

1[~l) Lt 2 
DATED 

Counsel for Defendant 
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U.S. District Court 
Southern District of California (San Diego) 

CRIMINAL DOCKET FOR CASE#: 3:19-cr-03006-BAS-1 

Case title: USA v. Schmuel Date Filed: 08/06/2019 

Assigned to: Judge Cynthia Bashant 

Defendant (1) 

Schlomo Schmuel 

Pending Counts 

18:371; 28:246l(c) - Conspiracy; 
Criminal Forfeiture 
(J) 

Highest Offense Level (Opening) 

Felony 

Terminated Counts 

represented by Harland W Braun 
Braun & Braun LLP 
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Suite 1020 
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None 

Highest OffenseLevel (Terminated) 

None 

Complaints Disposition 

None 

Plaintiff 

USA represented by Valerie Chu 
U S Attorneys Office Southern District 
of California 
Criminal Division 
880 Front Street 
Room6293 
San Diego, CA92101 
(619) 546-6750 
Fax: (619) 546-0450 
Email: Valerie.Clrn@usdoj.gov 
LEAD ATTORNEY 
ATTORNEY TO BE NOTICED 
Designation: Assistant United States 
Attorney 

Date Filed # Docket Text 

08/06/2019 1 INFORMATION as to Schlorno Schrnuel (1) count(s) I. (dis) (Entered: 
08/06/2019) 

08/06/2019 2 Minute Entry for proceedings held before Magistrate Judge Mitchell D. Dern bin: 
Initial Appearance as to Schlomo Schn1uel (prese11t) held-on 8/6/2019. Bond set 
as to Schlomo Sclrnmel (I) 0/R; defendant ordered to appear at USM office for 
fingerprint and release; abstract issued to USM. Bond packet clue by close of 
business 8/9/2019. Arraignment on Information as to Schlorno Schmuel (1) 
Count 1 held on 8/6/2019. Change of Pleal-leru·ing as to Schlomo Schmuel held 
on 8/6/2019. Plea entered by Schlomo Schmuel (1) Count I. Plea Tendered by 
Schlomo Schmuel Guilty on count 1 of the Information. Excluclable(s) started as 
to Schlomo Schmuel: XK: 8/6/19-11/4/19. PSR Ordered. Sentence With PSR set 
for 11/4/2019 09:00 AM before Judge Cynthia Basbant. Information, waiver of 
indictment, notice of related case, consent, plea and findings filed. (CD# 
8/6/2019 MDD: 1036-1058). (Plaintiff Attorney Valerie Chu, AUSA). 
(Defendant Attorney Harland Braun, RET; Richard Moss, RET). (PTSO: J. 
Lopez). (ells) (Entered: 08/06/2019) 

08/06/2019 ;l_ WAIYER OF INDICTMENT by Schlomo Schmuel ( ells) (Entered: 08/06/2019) 

08/06/2019 1 
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NOTICE OF RELATED CASE(S) by USA of case(s) 15CR2820-BAS. (dls) 
(Entered: 08/06/2019) 

08/06/2019 5 FINDINGS AND RECOMMENDATION of the Magistrate Judge upon a 
Tendered Plea of Guilty as to Schlomo Schmuel: Recommending that the 
district judge accept the defendant's plea of guilty. Court excludes time from 
8/6/2019 through 11/4/2019 pursuant to 18 USC 316l(h)(l)(G). Signed by 
Magistrate Judge Mitchell D. Dembin on 8/6/2019. (jah) (Entered: 08/06/2019) 

08/06/2019 6 ORDER Setting Conditions of Release as to Schlomo Schmuel (1). Defendant is 
released on personal recognizance. Signed by Magistrate Judge Mitchell D. 
Dembin on 8/6/2019. (jah) (Entered: 08/07/2019) 

08/06/2019 1 ABSTRACT OF ORDER Releasing Schlomo Schmuel. Defendant is released 
on own recognizance. (jah) (Entered: 08/07/2019) 

08/06/2019 ~ CONSENT TO RULE 11 PLEA before Magistrate Judge Mitchell D. Dembin 
by Schlomo Schmuel. (jah) (Entered: 08/07/2019) 

08/06/2019 2. PLEA AGREEMENT as to Schlomo Schmuel. (jah) (Entered: 08/07/2019) 

08/08/2019 lQ Own Recognizance Bond Filed as to Schlomo Schmuel. Signed by Magistrate 
Judge Mitchell D. Dembin on 8/8/2019. (Document applicable to USA, 
Schlomo Schmuel.) (jah) (Entered: 08/09/2019) 

09/03/2019 ll ORDER ACCEPTING GUILTY PLEA as to Count One (1) of the Infonnation, 
as to Schlomo Schmuel, adopting l Findings and Recommendation. Signed by 
Judge CynthiaBashant on 9/3/2019. (sxm) (Entered: 09/03/2019) 
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